SCALING-UP VALUED ECOSYSTEM COMPONENTS FOR USE IN WATERSHED CUMULATIVE EFFECTS ASSESSMENT

A Thesis Submitted to the College of Graduate Studies and Research in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science in the Department of Geography and Planning

University of Saskatchewan

Saskatoon

By

Murray Alexander Ball

© Copyright Murray Alexander Ball, March 2011. All rights reserved.

PERMISSION TO USE

In presenting this thesis/dissertation in partial fulfillment of the requirements for a Postgraduate degree from the University of Saskatchewan, I agree that the Libraries of this University may make it freely available for inspection. I further agree that permission for copying of this thesis/dissertation in any manner, in whole or in part, for scholarly purposes may be granted by the professor or professors who supervised my thesis/dissertation work or, in their absence, by the Head of the Department or the Dean of the College in which my thesis work was done. It is understood that any copying or publication or use of this thesis/dissertation or parts thereof for financial gain shall not be allowed without my written permission. It is also understood that due recognition shall be given to me and to the University of Saskatchewan in any scholarly use which may be made of any material in my thesis/dissertation.

DISCLAIMER

Reference in this thesis/dissertation to any specific commercial products, process, or service by trade name, trademark, manufacturer, or otherwise, does not constitute or imply its endorsement, recommendation, or favouring by the University of Saskatchewan. The views and opinions of the author expressed herein do not state or reflect those of the University of Saskatchewan, and shall not be used for advertising or product endorsement purposes.

Requests for permission to copy or to make other uses of materials in this thesis/dissertation in whole or part should be addressed to:

Head of the Department of Geography and Planning University of Saskatchewan Saskatoon, Saskatchewan S7N 5C8 Canada

OR

Dean College of Graduate Studies and Research University of Saskatchewan 107 Administration Place Saskatoon, Saskatchewan S7N 5A2 Canada

ABSTRACT

The accumulating impacts from human development are threatening water quality and availability in the watersheds of Western Canada. While environmental impact assessment (EIA) is tasked with identifying such cumulative impacts, the practice is limited to individual projects, is not widely applied, overlooks activities occurring on the landscape, and fails to capture the effects of multiple projects over time. Limitations of the project-by-project approach are spurring the emergence of a regional framework for assessing aquatic cumulative effects within watershed boundaries. Watershed-based cumulative effects assessment (WCEA) will need a standard set of ecosystem components and indicators for assessment across the watershed, but it is not clear how such valued ecosystem components (VECs) and related measurable parameters should be identified. This study examined how aquatic VECs and indicators were used within project-based EIA in the South Saskatchewan River watershed and considered whether they could be scaled up for use in WCEA. A semi-quantitative analysis compared a hierarchy of assessment components and measurable parameters identified in the environmental impact statements of 28 federal screening, 5 federal comprehensive and 2 provincial environmental assessments from the South Saskatchewan River watershed, and examined factors affecting aquatic VEC selection. While provincial assessments were available online or at a central archive, federal assessments were difficult to access. Results showed that regulatory compliance was the dominant factor influencing VEC selection, followed by the preferences of government agencies with different mandates, and that provincial licensing arrangements interfered with VEC selection. The frequency of VECs and indicators used for aquatic assessment within EIA does not reflect the aquatic cumulative effect assessment (CEA) priorities for the watershed. The effective selection of VECs and indicators for aquatic cumulative effects assessment in practice requires both the implementation of WCEA and updating of guidelines for project-based EIA.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Co-supervisors Dr. Bram Noble and Dr. Monique Dubé of the University of Saskatchewan provided vision and inexhaustible support for this research and I offer them, as well as committee members Dr. Cherie Westbrook and Dr. Robert Patrick, also of the University of Saskatchewan, my sincere thanks for their thoughtful input and encouragement. I would also like to thank external examiner Brent Bitter of the Saskatchewan Ministry of Environment for sharing valuable insights that greatly strengthened the final thesis draft, as well as Phyllis and Brenda, the Department of Geography and Planning support staff for their encouraging words, my fellow graduate students, and Alec Aitken, acting head of the Department. Thanks to Jeff Lettvenuk and Gregory Metcalfe for their GIS assistance. Funding for this research was provided by the Canadian Water Network and the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council.

The research would not have been possible without the generous participation of many EIA professionals who went out of their way to assist me in accessing EIS documents. Thank you: Melissa Styba, Brian Hills, Karen Stewart, Collin Campbell, Jerry Steranko, Pam Kujawa, Twyla Armstrong, Marie-Helen Beauchemin, Elaine Long, Colleen Yates, Stephanie Langevin, Donovan Kassen, Wes Richmond, Jamie Fennel, Ryan Hornett, Tom Maher, Rick Ore, Elaine Carlow, Jackie from Transport Canada, Shannon McDonald, Gretta Bridgewater, Rob at Canadian Natural Resources Limited, Charity Berris, Terry Chapman, Colleen Marshall, Judy Thomas, Pascal Lessard, Maureen Flagler, Evan Shaw, Toralee Stephenson and Sylvia Taylor.

Special thanks to my family, all of whom have been exceptionally patient and generous in helping me to make the time for this project: Joan, Katie, Misha and Bryn Makaroff; Jean Ball, Dr. Shauna Little and Dr. Robert Makaroff.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
1.1. Study Objectives	3
CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW	4
2.1. Nature of Cumulative Environmental Effects	5
2.1.1. Role of VECs in Assessing Cumulative Effects	6
2.2. State of CEA in Canadian Watersheds	6
2.2.1. Limits of Project-Based CEA	7
2.2.2. Regional Imperative	7
2.2.3. Watershed Based and Regional Assessments	8
2.2.4. Sharing Information between Assessment Scales	9
2.3. Summary	11
CHAPTER 3: METHODS	12
3.1. Study Area	12
3.2. EIS Selection	13
3.3. EIS Procurement	17
3.4. Document Content Analysis	18
CHAPTER 4: RESULTS	21
4.1. Identifying Biophysical VECs	21
4.1.1. Impact Analysis Components	22
4.1.2. VEC Hierarchy and Inconsistency	23
4.1.3. A Normative Hierarchy for Environmental Components	24
4.2. Aquatic VECs	27
4.3. Analysis of the Use and Selection of Aquatic VECs	30
4.3.1. Aquatic VEC Use by Assessment Type	31
4.3.2. Aquatic VEC Use by Public Consultation Category	31
4.3.3. Aquatic VEC Use by Responsible Authority	33
4.3.4. Aquatic VEC Use by Project Class	35
4.3.5. Factors Affecting Aquatic VEC Selection	37
4.4. Analysis of the Use and Selection of Indicators for Water VECs	39
4.4.1. Indicators Used for Water Quality and Quantity VECs	39
4.4.2. Adopting a Normative Hierarchy for Stresses to Water VECs	40
4.4.3. Surface Water Condition and Stress Parameter Use by Category	41
4.5. Quality of Parameter Measurement	46
CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION	49
5.1. Standard Aquatic Biophysical VECs	49
5.2. Standard WCEA Indicators	52
5.3. Complementary Nature of EIA and WCEA	54
5.4. Establishing Priority VECs and Priority Parameters	58
5.5 Information Management Deficiency in EIA	59
CHAPTER 6: CONCLUSION	61
6.1. Limitations	63
6.2. Recommendations for Further Research	64
REFERENCES	66

LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1: Study sample of environmental impact statements from the South Saskatchewan River watershed	16
Table 4.1: Screening and comprehensive type assessments that used the term 'VEC' as identified in a review of 35 EISs completed between 1996 and 2007 in the South Saskatchewan River watershed	22
Table 4.2: Frequency of occurrence of the terms used to describe the environmental components assessed in relation to water in a sample of 35 EISs from the South Saskatchewan River watershed	23
Table 4.3: Breakdown of <i>water</i> into a normative hierarchy of surface water quality VEC factors, condition parameters and secondary condition parameters as identified in a review of EISs from the South Saskatchewan River watershed	27
Table 4.4: Frequency of aquatic VEC use by assessment type and government authority	32
Table 4.5: Frequency of EISs with public consultation that did not or that may have affected VEC selection and those with no public consultation by responsible authority and assessment type.	34
Table 4.6: Frequency of aquatic VEC use displayed by responsible authority with assessment type and governing authority	36
Table 4.7: Frequency of aquatic VEC use displayed by project class with assessment type, governing authority and responsible authority	37
Table 4.8: Indicators for water VECs as identified in a review of 35 EISs from the South Saskatchewan River watershed, displayed by corresponding position in the normative component hierarchy	42
Table 4.9: Project classes, stress factors and stress parameters affecting surface water quality as identified in a review of 35 EISs from the South Saskatchewan River watershed 4	45
Table 4.10: Use of condition and stress parameters for surface water quality displayed by project class, assessment type, government authority and responsible authority	47
Table 4.11: Use of condition and stress parameters for surface water quantity displayed by project class, assessment type and responsible authority	48

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 3.1: Study sample locations in the South Saskatchewan River Watershed	.14
Figure 4.1: A normative hierarchy for biophysical environmental components	. 25
Figure 4.2: Application of VEC hierarchy showing condition and secondary condition parameters for the surface water quality VEC factor <i>nutrients</i>	. 26
Figure 4.3: Frequency of project impacts to aquatic VECs	30
Figure 4.4: A normative hierarchy for categorizing stresses to water VECs based on an increasing level of detail from projects to parameters	.43

LIST OF ABREVIATIONS

AAFC: Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada AB: Province of Alberta CEA: cumulative effects assessment CEAA: Canadian Environmental Assessment Act CEAR: Canadian Environmental Assessment Registry CEARC: Canadian Environmental Assessment Research Council DFO: Department of Fisheries and Oceans DND: Department of National Defence EIA: environmental impact assessment EIS: environmental impact statement EUB: Alberta Energy and Utilities Board NRC: Natural Resources Canada **NEB:** National Energy Board PAH: polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon PCA: Parks Canada Agency SK: Province of Saskatchewan TC: Transport Canada TEK: traditional ecological knowledge VEC: valued ecosystem component VSC: valued socio-economic component WCEA: watershed-based cumulative effects assessment WD: Western Economic Diversification Canada

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

The accumulating impacts from human activities are putting water security at risk in western Canada, where both water availability and water quality are subject to increasing stresses related to watershed development (Schindler 2001, Schindler & Donahue 2006, St. Jaques et al. 2010). In principle, such impacts should be addressed through the regulatory environmental impact assessment (EIA) system; in practice, EIA in Canada is typically limited to certain project undertakings and does not capture the full range of stress to watersheds and river systems. As a consequence, cumulative impacts to the aquatic environment have been assessed through *ad hoc* processes outside of EIA using watershed boundaries, such as the Northern River Basins Study (Dubé et al. 2006), a government sponsored initiative that examined aquatic impacts of development in northern Alberta. One of the key challenges facing watershed-based assessment of cumulative effects is the necessity of sharing information over time and across geographic scales from specific projects to river reaches to watersheds. In particular, there is a need to standardize environmental components and aquatic indicators used for assessment so that information can be exchanged within and between assessments at the project, river reach, and watershed scales.

Cumulative effects are the combined impacts from all human-driven environmental stresses acting over time and space (Spaling 1997 cited in Noble 2006, Hegmann et al. 1999). Contaminants from different sources, arriving through different transport mechanisms may all affect surface water quality, for example, on the same reach of a river at the same time, with the overall impact to the aquatic environment exceeding the sum of the impacts from individual pollutants. Cumulative effect assessment (CEA) is tasked with accounting for the combined stresses affecting a particular environmental component regardless of the origin, and must consider past, present and future human activities.

Current practice in Canadian EIA includes requirements for CEA under certain jurisdictions, and for certain types of projects, but the practice is seen as ineffective because it lacks the temporal and spatial capacity to properly capture all sources of environmental stress (Duinker & Grieg

2006). A number of attempts to account for cumulative impacts to the aquatic environment have therefore adopted watershed boundaries to better match the study area to the geographical scale of the stresses affecting water. In the United States, for example, Reid (1993) conceptualized various pathways that characterize off-site and on-site cumulative effects in a watershed, and defined cumulative watershed effects in two ways. First, cumulative watershed effects includes those changes occurring to resources influenced directly or indirectly by watershed processes, so processes of water and sediment transport are functionally responsible for the expression of cumulative impacts. Second, cumulative watershed effects could be simply interpreted as changes/impacts that take place in the drainage area and not necessarily due to watershed processes. In this second case, the watershed is simply a location and does not play a role in the expression of impacts. In the Canadian context, CEA has also been conducted for aquatic ecosystems on a watershed basis through the Northern River Basins Study on the Athabasca River, and the Mackenzie River Basin State of the Aquatic Ecosystem Report (Dubé 2006). Those studies have spurred research that has advanced the science required for regional aquatic CEA and supported the application of watershed-based cumulative effects assessment (WCEA) for the aquatic environment across Canada. Even with the emergence of WCEA, however, CEA will continue to be practiced within EIA where it remains a regulatory requirement.

The current practice of EIA, and CEA within EIA, in Canada is to focus each assessment on a limited number of valued ecosystem components (VECs), which may be biophysical (the actual biological and physical elements of the environment) or socio-economic in nature, and are selected for their ecological significance or value to the public (Beanlands & Duinker 1983, Hegmann et al. 1999, Noble 2006). Different VECs are appropriate for different scales of assessment (Therival & Ross 2007), and the selection of VECs may vary locally depending on the ecological priorities in a given time period. VEC selection may also vary with changing public perceptions (Hegmann et al. 1999). The science used in EIA for assessing impacts to VECs is largely stressor-based, where the focus is on anticipated impacts from introduced environmental stress (Beanlands & Duinker 1983, Dubé 2003). The science used in WCEA, on the other hand, is effects-based, where the focus is on measurable aspects of the aquatic environment (Dubé 2003, Kilgour et al. 2006). The two approaches are complementary and each could benefit from information made available by the other. Together, the two approaches may

have the capacity to help identify cause-effect mechanisms, or at least statistical associations, by allowing a comparison between known stressors and observed effects. It is therefore desirable to link WCEA to project-based EIA with a mechanism to facilitate the flow of quantitative information: the adoption of a common set of indicators applicable to both scales of assessment and understanding.

A standard set of VECs and indicators would allow the integration of regional aquatic CEA, for watersheds, with project EIA and also have the potential to integrate other aquatic science and aquatic management programs operating within a watershed, such as environmental effect monitoring programs conducted for pulp mills and mines, state-of-the-watershed reporting conducted by watershed stewardship organizations, and integrated water resource management initiatives such as those currently under development in Alberta, Canada. Arguably WCEA in this context has the potential to act as a unifying framework rather than an additional layer of assessment. Successful integration, however, will require consistency of VEC and indicator use and the selection of VECs capable of serving both project-based and watershed-based CEA, as well as indicators capable of serving stressor-based and effects-based science.

1.1. Study Objectives

The purpose of this research is to evaluate the consistency and quality of biophysical VECs and indicators used to assess the aquatic environment within project-based EIA, and whether they can be 'scaled-up' to support WCEA. The study is limited in scope to the aquatic environment as a matter of practicality. The study objectives are to: (i) identify the biophysical VECs that have been used in EIA practice; (ii) identify the biophysical VECs linked to the aquatic environment; (iii) identify common aquatic biophysical VECs and indicators across assessments; and (iv) determine whether aquatic VECs and indicators used in project EIA can inform WCEA. The focus is on the South Saskatchewan River watershed in Canada, a multi-jurisdictional watershed reaching across the southern portions of the provinces of Alberta and Saskatchewan.

CHAPTER 2 LITERATURE REVIEW

Environmental assessment was developed in North America in the early 1970s; under legislation in the U.S., and as a cabinet directive in Canada (Hanna 2005). The Canadian government replaced the cabinet directive first with a 'Guidelines Order' in 1984, and then with the Canadian Environmental Assessment Act (CEAA) in1995. The province of Saskatchewan similarly advanced from the *ad hoc* assessments in the early 1970s through the adoption of environmental assessment policy in 1976, to introduction of EIA legislation in 1980 (Bowden & Weichel 2005). The province of Alberta moved from policy-based EIA to regulatory-based EIA with the passing of the Environmental Protection and Enhancement Act in 1993 (Creasey & Hanna 2005).

At first EIA was practiced regionally in Canada, assessing northern development initiatives such as the proposed McKenzie Valley pipeline (Gibson & Hanna 2005). Regional application has continued for claims-based assessments, such as the Northeastern Quebec Agreement and the Inuvialuit Final Agreement, but has been virtually lost for project-based assessments conducted under the *Canadian Environmental Assessment Act* (CEAA). Under CEAA, environmental assessments are conducted on a project-by-project basis for developments that trigger its application. Project proponents are permitted under section 16.2 of CEAA to consider regional studies conducted outside of CEAA, particularly when addressing cumulative effects, but 'regional EIA' is not required under the act (see CEAA 1992).

Soon after the inception of EIA, environmental organizations, the public, and regulators recognized that the accumulating impacts from several projects, where each one was approved separately, were not being taken into account (Noble 2006). The U.S. response was to legislate a requirement to assess cumulative effects (US CEQ 1978). The Canadian response, seven years later, was to launch a study through the Canadian Environmental Assessment Research Council (CEARC) to determine what aspects of cumulative effects should be further studied (Sonntag et al. 1987, Peterson et al. 1987). It is interesting to note that scholars planning the research were concerned with particular difficulties identified in EIA practice that remain issues today, including limited geographic and temporal scales, lack of regional planning, the need for a more

multidisciplinary approach, and ineffective monitoring (Sonntag et al. 1987, Duinker & Greig 2006). The resulting research prospectus was followed up with studies that clarified the purpose of CEA, and examined the strength of science used for CEA (see Spaling & Smit 1993, Smit & Spaling 1995). These studies were completed after the introduction in 1992 of the federal CEAA, with its requirement to conduct CEA within the scope of project-based EIA. Legislation in Alberta in 1993 also enshrined the requirement for conducting CEA within provincial EIA. Saskatchewan does not formally require CEA within EIA although guidelines under the act recommend consideration of cumulative impacts (Sheelanere 2010).

2.1. Nature of Cumulative Environmental Effects

Cumulative effects are "the accumulation of human-induced changes in VECs across space and over time that occur in an additive or interactive manner" (Spaling 1997, cited in Noble 2006: 158). An example of additive effects is the accumulation of phosphorous, a stressor, along a river continuum, where the VEC is surface water quality. The incremental addition of phosphorous through sheetwash of agricultural fields, run-off from livestock feeding areas, discharge of industrial cooling water and effluent releases from municipal wastewater treatment contribute to a cumulative phosphorous loading. The stress from phosphorous accumulation may interact with other stressors to surface water quality such as atmospheric deposition of heavy metals, thermal loading from industrial cooling, and groundwater transport of landfill leachate. When these stresses impact the same reach of a river at the same time, they may have a synergistic cumulative effect on water quality and aquatic life.

The practice of CEA, however, is more than assessing current conditions and monitoring what has already happened, it is also about examining the implications of potential future stress and interactions. Under CEAA, for example, when cumulative effects are assessed there is a requirement that anticipated future actions and impacts must be included. Similarly, cumulative effects are defined in the Cumulative Effects Assessment Practitioner's Guide (Hegmann et al. 1999: 3) as "changes to the environment caused by an action in combination with other past, present, and future actions".

2.1.1. Role of VECs in Assessing Cumulative Effects

Spaling (1997, cited in Noble 2006) defines cumulative effects in terms of changes in VECs. While the term VEC is not used in the CEAA, VECs have supposedly formed the backbone of environmental assessment practice in Canada since they were introduced to the environmental assessment lexicon by Beanlands and Duinker in 1983, in response to a general frustration that EIA practice was investing too much in data collection on too many aspects of the environment with insufficient analysis of the effects on key environmental components. The VEC-centered approach to EIA was subsequently promoted for CEA through the adoption of the Cumulative Effects Assessment Practitioners Guide (Hegmann et al. 1999) by the Canadian Environmental Assessment Agency. Under the VEC-based model, environmental assessment begins with a scoping phase where both scientific expertise and social evaluation are used to identify the biophysical and socio-economic environmental components that will be the focus of assessment: those environmental components most likely to be affected by the proposed project, and those with high social or analytical value. Impacts to biophysical components are assessed first, and consequent impacts to socio-economic components resulting from changes in the biophysical components are then considered. In theory, attention is focused on indicators of significant ecological change rather than on all ecological change, producing quality results tailored to social values, while avoiding unnecessary time and resource investment. One problem with this approach, from a cumulative effects perspective, is that incremental impacts may be missed for the VECs that are not highly valued for a particular project (Baxter et al. 2001, Contant & Wiggins, 1991). Hegmann et al. (1999) therefore recommended the adoption of distinct CEA VECs, and also of VECs established on a regional scale. The importance of regional VECs for CEA has been highlighted in subsequent studies, such as the review of the Transboundary Crown of the Continent Manager's Partnership regional cumulative effects assessment (Harriman & Noble 2009) that noted a tendency in practice to move toward the identification of VECs that could act as regional indicators of ecosystem health.

2.2. State of CEA in Canadian Watersheds

There are limits to the effectiveness of CEA conducted within project-based EIA. Recent studies clarified some of the underlying issues and highlighted a continuing concern regarding the varied scales of assessment required for CEA and the difficulty of addressing them within EIA. The

following sections examine the conflicts of scale, and an emerging challenge related to the assessment of cumulative effects in the aquatic environment.

2.2.1. Limits of Project-Based CEA

The only regulatory requirement for CEA in Canadian watersheds is within project-based EIA, where it is employed one development project at a time, and where it is generally seen as ineffective (Duinker & Greig 2006, Spaling & Smit 1993). There are serious obstacles to CEA conducted only within the context of individual projects. These are summarized by Duinker and Greig (2006) as follows: 1) an inability of proponents to access information about other developments; 2) an interest by proponents in minimizing the scope of assessment for increased efficiencies; 3) insufficient background analysis and understanding of thresholds; 4) a tendency to discount effects that are not seen as significant for the project under consideration; 5) a failure to embrace a quantitative and systems oriented approach; and 6) a failure to consider the full range of potential future conditions. Difficulties with a project based approach to CEA were first discussed in the 1980s in studies sponsored by the CEARC, when the role of science and the institutional requirements for CEA were first considered in Canada (Smit & Spaling 1995, Sonntag et al. 1987). There has since been a consistent message in the literature that CEA can not work if it is limited to individual projects in its scale of application (Therival & Ross 2007, Duinker & Greig 2006, Spaling & Smit 1993, Sontaag et al. 1987).

2.2.2. Regional Imperative

Studies by the CEARC highlighted the difficulty of conducting CEA without adopting a regional approach (Sontag et al. 1987, O'Riordan et al. 1988), but Spaling and Smit (1993) went further in emphasizing the regional imperative by suggesting that the essential purpose of CEA has always been to move EIA to a regional application. CEA is intended to capture the shortcomings inherent in project-based EIA related to its limited scale of application, and must therefore be practiced regionally. A number of advantages to adopting a regional approach to CEA have been identified in the literature. First, the regional scale would provide a framework for capturing the incremental impacts that are not addressed within project-based EIA (Grzybowsky & Associates 2001). Second, regional CEA would accomplish the long-standing need of establishing a regional presence for EIA that would complement regional planning, promote sustainable development,

and provide an opportunity for strategic environmental assessment (Spaling & Smit 1993, Noble 2003, Harriman & Noble 2008). Third, the regional scale is best situated for identifying cumulative assessment and management priorities, understanding ecological limits and developing thresholds (Rees 1995, Braat 2001, Kilgour et al. 2006). Fourth, a regional database would ameliorate the proponent's burdens of defining current baseline conditions and accounting for projects planned by others (Grzybowsky & Associates 2001, Creasey & Ross 2005, Bérubé 2007, Antoniuk 2008). Fifth, the science of CEA and EIA could be enhanced through use of a regional database (Dubé 2003, Kilgour et al. 2006). Sixth, assuming that adequate governing capacity is provided, regional CEA would support improved monitoring and follow-up, which have been identified as persistent weaknesses within EIA (Sadler 1996, Baxter et al. 2001, Duinker & Greig 2006). In recognition of the value of a regional perspective for CEA, section 16.2 of the CEAA was amended in 2003 to allow that the results of "regional studies" may be used to inform CEA within project-based EIA.

2.2.3. Watershed Based and Regional Assessments

One of the earliest environmental assessments conducted in Canada, the *ad hoc* Churchill River Study, was conducted using a multidisciplinary approach within watershed boundaries, and considered a wide range of aquatic VECs, including climate, water quantity (flow and levels), aquatic ecology, plankton, primary production, fisheries, sediments, and water quality (CRSB, 1975). The watershed framework has more recently come back in favour in the provinces of Saskatchewan and Alberta where there is increasing momentum toward assessment and management of aquatic impacts within watershed boundaries. Watershed-based source water protection planning is one such initiative in Saskatchewan, under the direction of the Saskatchewan Watershed Authority (see SWA 2008). The SWA is also developing state-of-the-watershed indicators used to identify trends on a watershed scale (SWA 2006). The Water for Life strategy in Alberta supports the development of integrated watershed management plans that address cumulative effects (see NSWA 2011). Further, cumulative effects were also recognized by a collaboration of 40 rural and urban municipalities and one First Nation in the South Saskatchewan River watershed in the development of the regional Waterwolf Growth Management Plan (2008). See Sheelanere (2010) for additional reading on governance and the

roles of different agencies engaged in watershed scale assessment and river system management in Alberta and Saskatchewan.

In response to public concerns over the environmental impacts of development, a number of regional CEAs have been conducted in Canada outside of project-based EIA and the regulatory environment. In southwest Saskatchewan, for example, a regional cumulative assessment of land use activities, including natural gas development, roads and trails, recreation, and cattle grazing, was conducted in Great Sand Hills of Saskatchewan (see Noble 2008). Similarly, proponents in the bitumen sands region of Alberta also have driven the formation of a regional framework for managing the cumulative effects of energy development (Spaling et al. 2000).

There have also been several formal CEA-based initiatives conducted within the context of watersheds, and using watersheds as boundaries. The Moose River Basin study (Munkittrick et al. 2000, cited in Dubé et al. 2006), the Northern Rivers Basin Study (Culp et al. 2000) and the Northern Rivers Ecosystem Initiative (Dubé et al. 2006) were *ad hoc* assessments that together have created a foundation for watershed-based CEA. Subsequent studies have advanced the scientific capacity for conducting WCEA (Kilgour et al. 2006, Squires et al. 2010, Seitz et al. 2011) and new research is emerging to addresses institutional requirements for WCEA (Dubé 2007, Sheelanere 2010).

There is now a convergence of thought in academia, government, and business that CEA must go regional, and there is some momentum for the adoption of watersheds as regional boundaries when the focus of concern is on cumulative effects to aquatic systems. A watershed framework will allow a more proactive approach to CEA than what can be accomplished through project-based EIA alone. It will provide the opportunity to capture direct and indirect effects from activities in the watershed, and can be used to inform subsequent project-based impact assessment and development decisions.

2.2.4. Sharing Information between Assessment Scales

The assessment of cumulative effects must be conducted beyond the scope and scale of the individual project to be effective, and it must, under federal and provincial regulatory

requirements, also be conducted at the scale of individual projects. It follows, therefore, that it would be desirable to exchange information between the regional and project scales of assessment (Boulden et al. 2000, Noble 2003). From the perspective of CEA science, this means connecting the stressor-based assessment approach used in project-scale EIA with the effects-based assessment approach used in watershed-based CEA science initiatives (Beanlands & Duinker 1983, Culp et al. 2000, Seitz et al. 2011). There is potential to leverage the complementary natures of stressor-based science and effects-based science to advance CEA science CEA science and our understanding of ecological cause-effect mechanisms (Dubé 2003).

Stressor-based science quantifies known environmental stresses, such as chemical loadings to the aquatic environment, and predicts consequent impacts on VECs (Beanlands & Duinker 1983). Effects-based science measures the condition of VECs, such as benthic invertebrates and fish in the aquatic environment, using condition indicators like community diversity and fish liver size and then works backwards to try to identify related sources of stress impacting those VECs (Kilgour et al. 2006). If WCEA can support the flow of information between the two approaches in science, then there will be increased opportunity to identify cause-effect relationships or associations that will in turn support improved prediction of impacts from projects and improved identification of stressors affecting watersheds (Dubé 2003). The identification of cause-effect mechanisms is considered essential for the advancement of CEA generally (Bérubé 2007, O'Riordon et al. 1988) and for WCEA (Reid 1993). In particular, if information can be exchanged in a quantitative capacity between the effects-based science currently used in watershed-based CEA and the stressor-based science used in project EIA, through the use of standard indicators, then relationships can be more easily identified (Kilgour et al. 2006). Thus, advancing watershed CEA will require the development of a shared and standard set of stressorbased and effects-based indicators.

As noted above, one of the challenges to CEA is identifying the VECs and indicators that should be considered in each assessment and at each scale of assessment (Hegmann et al. 1999). We should expect that WCEA will establish a set of regional VECs and indicators that will apply across the watershed and at the same time be responsive to the individual project scale (see Seitz et al. 2011). It is not clear, however, whether the VECs and indicators currently used in project-

based EIA could be 'scaled up' to the watershed-scale. One of the challenges is that no studies have been conducted that look at the aquatic VECs and indicators used in project-based EIA or to consider their usefulness for watershed-based CEA.

2.3. Summary

The practice of CEA is intended to address environmental impacts that are often overlooked, or inadequately assessed, in project-based EIA. In the context of Canada's watersheds, there is momentum building toward the establishment of a regional framework for CEA using watershed boundaries and with a focus on aquatic ecosystems. Watershed CEA will be tasked with sharing information between assessments at both the project scale and the regional scale, as well as between stressor-based and effects-based science. A standard set of VECs and common indicators are needed to facilitate information flow within a WCEA framework. Such VECs and indicators may already be in use within EIA practice, but no studies have examined the common assessment components and aquatic indicators used in EIA for the aquatic environment, nor the possibility that they may be useful if scaled up to the watershed scale.

CHAPTER 3 METHODS

The results presented in this thesis are based on a review of 35 environmental impact statements (EISs), selected to represent the geographical, jurisdictional, and developmental scope of the South Saskatchewan River watershed. The research methods generally followed the semi-quantitative approach employed by Burris and Canter (1997) and adapted by Atkinson et al. (2000) in their respective reviews of EISs, conducted in different contexts. An iterative series of qualitative readings of the documents provided a framework for identifying and categorizing data, and was interspersed by iterations of quantitative analysis. The research combined an inductive process used to establish a conceptual basis for comparison of content across EISs, a quantitative review of content across assessments, and an analysis of the quantitative findings.

3.1. Study Area

The headwaters of the South Saskatchewan River begin at the continental divide that separates the provinces of British Columbia and Alberta in Canada, and run through the eastern slopes and foothills of the Rocky Mountains (Figure 3.1). The river is fed mainly from the annual snow pack, although depleting glaciers in the headwaters, and a small groundwater component in the prairie lowlands augment the late summer flow (Halliday 2009). The watershed includes most of southern Alberta below the city of Red Deer, a small piece of northern Montana, and a swatch of central Saskatchewan running from the southwest of that province, up through the city of Saskatoon to the junction with the North Saskatchewan River near St. Louis. There is a large urban population in the watershed that includes the cities of Calgary and Saskatoon.

Land use in the watershed is primarily agricultural: cropland, grassland and forage (Martz et al. 2007). Intensive livestock operations and crop irrigation, mostly located in the southern Alberta portion of the watershed, consume more water than municipal, industrial, and power generation uses combined. Electrical power is generated in two coal-fired facilities at Hanna and Medicine Hat, and at a number of hydro generating stations, the largest of which is located on Lake Diefenbaker. Industry includes mining of metals, non-metals, coal and minerals, as well as oil and gas production, forestry, and manufacturing. The manufacturing sector produces packaged food and drink, chemicals, primary metals, rubber, plastic, equipment, paper, wood, and

fabricated metal. Municipal sewage is introduced to the river systems from Calgary, Saskatoon, Lethbridge, Red Deer, Medicine Hat, Swift Current and several smaller communities.

The watershed has a complex jurisdictional structure that includes the federal, two provincial, and several regional quasi-governmental organizations, such as watershed advisory committees, with different regulatory roles. Water use is substantial, with irrigation allotments on the Alberta side making heaviest demand. Under the Prairie Provinces Water Board Master Agreement on Apportionment, 50% of flow must be passed on from Alberta to Saskatchewan. In dry years this is a management challenge (Schindler & Donahue, 2006). Summer flow is augmented by dams on the headwaters in Alberta. In Saskatchewan, the river provides water for irrigation, industry, and domestic use for a significant proportion of the province's population (Martz et al. 2007). Activities in the watershed have contributed to a history of screening-level EIA applied to many different types of development.

3.2. EIS Selection

The governments of Canada, Alberta and Saskatchewan all conduct environmental assessments in the South Saskatchewan River watershed. Projects with federal funding or other regulatory triggers, that are not excluded from assessment, must be assessed under the CEAA; in Alberta, the Ministry of Environment and other provincial agencies assess projects that trigger the Environmental Assessment (Mandatory and Exempted Activities) Regulation, or that draw the interest of the Environment Ministry (Alberta Environment 2010); and the Environmental Assessment Branch in Saskatchewan conducts assessments as required upon review of proposed projects under the Saskatchewan Environmental Assessment Act (Government of Saskatchewan 2009). In Saskatchewan, projects are routinely screened out from the formal assessment process through the submission of environmental protection plans (EPPs) along with development proposals (see Government of Saskatchewan 2009). While it could be argued that the Saskatchewan EPPs may be considered equivalent in nature to the federal screening assessments, they have not been included in this study; only formal EISs from Saskatchewan were reviewed. In Alberta, only large development projects have typically been assessed and relatively few EISs have been produced within the South Saskatchewan River watershed (see Alberta Environment undated).



Figure 3.1: Study area showing the South Saskatchewan River Watershed with Provincial and international borders and sample environmental impact assessment locations

Overall, only a limited number of EISs have been produced in the watershed under provincial authority¹. Most of the EISs identified within the watershed were federal assessments and the preponderance of federal assessments is reflected in the EIS selection.

Nearly 100 times more federal screening assessments have been completed in the watershed than the more rigorous comprehensive study or panel review assessments. Federal screening assessments are defined as a systematic approach to identifying the environmental effects of a proposed project and to determining the need to mitigate adverse effects (CEAA 2005). Federal screening assessments are used for routine undertakings that are not expected to generate significant adverse effects. The results of a screening assessment may lead to further assessment through mediation or a review panel. Federal comprehensive study assessments are more stringent than screening assessments and are typically used for large scale or complex projects likely to have significant adverse effects (CEAA 2005). Federal mediation and review panel assessments differ from comprehensive assessments in being advisory rather than decision-making processes and are conducted by an authority independent of government. Recognizing the nature of cumulative effects, described by Noble (2003) as the consequence of a tyranny of small decisions, this study concentrated primarily on screenings - the most numerous, and least rigorous, form of federal assessment. Representative numbers of provincial, harmonized provincial/federal and federal comprehensive studies were also included (see Table 3.1).

A judgemental sampling approach was used to select impact statements with an apparent connection to the aquatic environment; to represent the geographic diversity of the watershed; and to represent the range of project categories listed in the Canadian Environmental Assessment Registry (CEAR). Most of the EISs included in the study were completed between 2003 and 2007, although it was necessary to collect comprehensive studies from as early as 1998 to provide a sufficient sample size, and an Alberta provincial assessment from 1996, the most recent year available. The EISs were organized into two categories: 'screening type assessments' that

¹ See the Alberta Environment List of Completed EIAs <u>http://environment.alberta.ca/1274.html</u>, the Saskatchewan Environmental Assessment Mapping Application <u>http://www.environment.gov.sk.ca/Default.aspx?DN=41b56f8e-b563-4457-91ae-02a984317ee6</u>, and the Canadian Environmental Assessment Registry <u>http://www.ceaa-acce.gc.ca/050/index_e.cfm</u>.

included both provincial assessments and federal screening assessments; and 'comprehensive type assessments' that included federal comprehensive study and panel review assessments (see Table 3.1).

EIS #	Title	CEAR Category*	Authority**	Year	Туре
1	Rancher's Beef Abattoir	Agriculture	AAFC	2005	screening
2	Fuel Tank Installation	Product and Waste Management	AAFC	2005	screening
3	Manure Storage and Handling	Product and Waste Management	AAFC	2007	screening
4	WEB Watershed Evaluation of BMPs	Water Management	AAFC	2004	screening
5	Wakaw Lake Water Distribution System	Water Management	WD	2004	screening
6	Maple Creek Dam Rehabilitation	Water Management	AAFC	2005	screening
7	Riverhurst Irrigation Expansion	Water Management	AAFC	2006	screening
8	Barrier Lake flow Manipulation	Water Management	DFO	2006	screening
9	Tipple Mine Site Remediation	Remediation Contaminated Land	DFO	2007	screening
11	Dormer Prescribed Burn	Forestry	PCA	2005	screening
12	Fairholme Range MPB Control	Forestry	PCA	2006	screening
13	Berry Creek Dam Rehabilitation	Dams, Weirs, Reservoirs	тс	2007	screening
14	Wakaw Lake Water Control Structure	Dams, Weirs, Reservoirs	DFO	2004	screening
16	Nose Creek Realignment	Aquaculture	DFO	2005	screening
20	Remediation Former Fire Training Area	Contaminated Sites	тс	2004	screening
22	City of Saskatoon Raw Water Intake	Dredging, filling, etc.	DFO	2007	screening
23	Bridge Replacement Over Crowsnest River	Bridges and Culverts	тс	2006	screening
25	Overhaul of Cascade Generating Unit	Hydroelectric Energy	PCA	2007	screening
26	IPS Factory Licence	Industrial	NRC	2005	screening
27	Western Bio-Diesel	Industrial	AAFC	2007	screening
28	Enchant Arcs CO ₂ Enhanced Oil Recovery	Industrial	NRC	2004	screening
29	Improved Manure Storage and Handling	Agriculture	AAFC	2006	screening
32	Irrigation Management	Agriculture	AAFC	2006	screening
33	Fine Tailings Management Area	n/a	SK	2006	screening
34	Proposed Joffre Expansion Project	n/a	AB	1996	screening
35	Carrot Creek Prescribed Burn	Alteration of Flora, Fauna or Soil	PCA	2006	screening
36	Proposed Backshore Marina	Alteration of Flora, Fauna or Soil	DFO	2006	screening
37	Carwash Facility at Ralston	Building and Property Development	DND	2004	screening
42	Saskatoon Regional Waste Management Center Upgrade	Solid Waste, Provincial	WD and SK	2003	screening

Table 3.1: Study sample of environmental impact statements from the South Saskatchewan River watershed

45	230 kilovolt International Power Line	Industrial	NEB	2006	screening
47	Brooks Power Project	n/a	CEAA and EUB	2002	comprehensive
48	Encana Shallow Gas Infill Development	n/a	CEAA and DND	2007	comprehensive
49	Alliance Pipeline	n/a	CEAA	1998	comprehensive
50	Valley South Water	n/a	CEAA	1999	comprehensive
51	Banff Airstrip Decommissioning	n/a	CEAA	2005	comprehensive

* CEAR category refers to the 'project descriptor' used in the Canadian Environmental Assessment Registry to identify projects of similar natures. Only Screening type assessments are assigned project descriptors in the registry.

** Authority means responsible authority and refers to the federal or provincial government ministry or agency charged with overseeing the assessment process and ultimately approving the assessment.

AAFC - Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada AB – Province of Alberta (Ministry of Environment) CEAA – Canadian Environmental Assessment Agency DFO – Department of Fisheries and Oceans DND – Department of National Defence EUB - Alberta Energy and Utilities Board NEB – National Energy Board NRC – Natural Resources Canada PCA – Parks Canada Agency SK – Province of Saskatchewan (Ministry of Environment) TC – Transport Canada WD – Western Economic Diversification Canada

3.3. EIS Procurement

Even though all impact statements were made available to the public during their respective assessment processes, they were not easily accessed afterward. A number of approaches were employed in this review to secure the selected EISs, with mixed success. Approximately 25% of the EISs targeted for review were not made available, mainly due to proponent reluctance to share documents combined with limited support and effectiveness of some responsible authorities. Another 6% were collected but not included in the review due to limited content, duplication of similar projects not linked to the aquatic environment, or because they were received after the document analysis process was initiated.

Direct appeals to obtain EISs from proponents were generally successful for larger industrial projects, and generally unsuccessful for municipal and small scale private developments. The projects where the proponent was forthcoming were generally ones completed by a third party consultant for a corporate client. Two private developers who had conducted their own assessments under the guidance of a federal responsible authority explained that they would not object if a copy of the EIS could be secured through another party, but that it was not a sound

business decision to share the document directly. The responsible authority is the (usually federal) government department or agency responsible for ensuring that an EIA is conducted and that the results are considered when deciding whether the government will provide support to the project (CEAA 2005).

Provincial assessments conducted in Saskatchewan were available online, and in Alberta were available at the government library in Edmonton, although assessments conducted before the establishment of the province's publicly available electronic directory were not listed. A contact in Alberta Environment was able to share an internal departmental list of older EISs that were physically available in the government library though they were not listed in the online catalogue. For federal assessments, the Canadian Environmental Assessment Agency indicated that it did not maintain an archive of completed EISs and that each federal department had its own retention policy for completed EISs (Pasqual 2009 pers. com.).

Most of the EISs sampled were eventually secured through the federal government departments and agencies that were identified as the responsible authority for the respective assessments. The National Energy Board (NEB) was the one federal authority that maintained an archive of completed EISs, available online with full sets of supporting documents. Inquiries with the Department of Fisheries and Oceans (DFO) were eventually directed to the regional CEAR coordinator who managed to secure most of EISs requested even though they were not part of the central archive and the documents had to be collected from local offices. Similarly Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada (AAFC) delegated a staff member to review scattered files in support of this project and most of the requested EISs were eventually located and forwarded. It required three months of active soliciting to collect the sample of EISs used in this study.

3.4. Document Content Analysis

Consistent with the scope of 'environment' under CEAA (1992), this study is limited in scope to biophysical VECs. Section 2.(1) of CEAA defines an environmental effect as:

(*a*) any change that the project may cause in the environment, including any change it may cause to a listed wildlife species, its critical habitat or the

residences of individuals of that species, as those terms are defined in
subsection 2(1) of the Species at Risk Act,
(b) any effect of any change referred to in paragraph (a) on

(i) health and socio-economic conditions,
(ii) physical and cultural heritage,
(iii) the current use of lands and resources for traditional purposes by
aboriginal persons, or
(iv) any structure, site or thing that is of historical, archaeological,
paleontological or architectural significance, or

(c) any change to the project that may be caused by the environment,

Environment effects in CEAA are understood first as changes in biophysical environmental components and second as consequent changes in social and economic environmental components. This study is limited to the first step in understanding environmental effects and focuses only on biophysical VECs.

Both qualitative and quantitative methods were used in the EIS document analysis. A number of thematic analyses identified and categorized the aquatic ecosystem components that were assessed and their respective indicators, as well as the sources of stress to water quality and their respective indicators. The thematic analysis was conducted by examining all EISs in an iterative review process, with the conceptual findings of each round of analysis informing subsequent rounds. Objectives (i) and (iii), the identification of VECs and aquatic VECs, were pursued through a thematic analysis that supported the adoption of a standard hierarchical framework for identifying and comparing assessment components and measurable parameters across projects. Empirical analysis was then used to examine how frequently individual aquatic ecosystem components were assessed (objective (ii)); how frequently indicators were used for aquatic ecosystem components and water quality stressors; and to rate EIS capacity to satisfy quantitative watershed CEA measurement requirements.

The first part of objective (iv), considering whether the aquatic VECs used in EIA should be used in WCEA, was addressed by examining factors affecting the selection of aquatic VECs in EIA practice in the South Saskatchewan River watershed. The second part of objective (iv),

considering whether the indicators used in EIA for aquatic VECs may be useful for WCEA, was addressed by first identifying and categorizing the indicators used for the four water VECs (surface water quality and quantity and groundwater quality and quantity), then comparing the measurable parameters used for assessing surface water quality and surface water quantity across project classes, and finally considering the effectiveness of the quantitative assessment of those parameters. The impact statement thematic review was an inductive and iterative process where observations made in each round of review were used to inform and frame subsequent rounds of review until the study objectives were addressed. The themes identified and frameworks adopted through the document review process are presented with the results in Chapter 4.

CHAPTER 4 RESULTS

Conventions, definitions and organizational frameworks adopted through the document review process are described in this chapter along with the quantitative and analytical results for each study objective, beginning with objective (i), the identification of biophysical VECs, proceeding through objectives (ii) and (iii), combined as the frequency of aquatic VECs, then addressing objective (iv) with an analysis of the use and selection of aquatic VECs and indicators. The results conclude with an analysis of how indicator parameters were measured.

4.1. Identifying Biophysical VECs

The impact statements were first reviewed for their frequency of use of the term 'valued ecosystem component' or 'VEC' (Table 4.1). Three comprehensive type assessments conducted after 1999, the year that the Canadian Environmental Assessment Agency adopted the Cumulative Effects Assessment Guide (Hegmann et al. 1999), used the term VEC, but two earlier comprehensive assessments, from 1998 and 1999, did not. Only 10% of the screening assessments reviewed used the term 'VEC' even though 97% were conducted after 1999: Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada (AAFC) used 'VEC' in the Rancher's Beef Abattoir project (Table 3.1, EIS # 1) and it was incorporated into the checklists used in two other federal screening assessments, one conducted by Transport Canada (TC) and the other by the Department of National Defence (DND) (see Table 3.1, EIS # 20 and EIS # 37 respectively). The term VEC was used in only 17% of the EISs reviewed overall.

Impact statements were next reviewed for terms similar in meaning to VEC. VEC-equivalent terms, often identified in the baseline sections of the EISs reviewed or used as headings in the impact analysis sections, were found in approximately 40% of assessments as follows: 'environmental component' (14%); 'relevant environmental factor' (14%); 'environmental factors' (5%); 'environmental features' (3%); and 'biophysical elements' (3%). Some responsible authorities were generally consistent in the VEC-equivalent terminology used, for example AAFC used the term 'relevant environmental factor' in all but one assessment. Screening

assessments by the Department of Fisheries and Oceans (DFO), on the other hand, often did not explicitly identify VECs or use VEC-equivalent terminology.

Table 4.1: Screening and comprehensive type assessments that used the term "	VEC' as identified
in a review of 35 EISs completed between 1996 and 2007 in the South S	Saskatchewan
River watershed	

Year EIS Submitted		Screening Type Assessments Compr													rehensive Type																				
1996																							х												
1998																															х				
1999																																х			
2002																																	✓	\checkmark	
2003																										х									
2004			х	х								х							х										\checkmark	√					
2005	х				х				х				х				х											\checkmark							\checkmark
2006						х	х			х				х	х					х	х	х		х	х		х								
2007		х						х			х					х		х																	
Responsible Authority	AAFC	AAFC	AAFC	WEDC	AAFC	AAFC	DFO	DFO	PCA	PCA	TC	DFO	DFO	DFO	TC	PCA	NRC	AAFC	NRC	AAFC	AAFC	SK	AB	PCA	DFO	SK/WD	NEB	AAFC	TC	DND	NEB	AAFC	AB/DFO	DND	PCA
EIS number	2	З	4	5	9	7	8	6	1	12	13	14	16	22	23	25	26	27	28	29	32	33	34	35	36	42	45	-	20	37	49	50	47	48	51
	N	atu	ral	Re	esc	our	ces	sС	an	ada	а						NR	С	Pr	ΌV	inc	e c	of S	Sas	ka	tch	iew	/an						SK	
	A	gric	cult	ture	e a	nd	Ag	gri-l	Fo	bc	Са	ana	da			A	١AF	С	W	es	ter	n E	cc	no	mi	сD)ive	ersit	ficat	ion				WD	i
	Department of Fisheries and Oceans					DF	С	De	ера	artr	ne	nt (of N	Vat	tior	nal	De	fenc	e			DND													
	Transport Canada						TC	;	Na	atic	na	l E	ne	rgy	/B	oai	ď						NEB												
	Parks Canada Agency							PC	A	EIS did not use the term 'VEC'								x																	
	Ρı	rov	inc	e c	of A	٩lb	erta	а									AB	3	EI	S	bib	us	e t	he	tei	m	'VE	EC'						~	

The remaining 43% of EISs, including two comprehensive assessments, did not use the term 'VEC' or its equivalents. The comprehensive study report for the Valley South Co-op Ltd. Water Pipeline project (see Table 3.1, EIS # 50), for example, discussed impacts to terrestrial wildlife and habitat, but neither wildlife nor habitat was labelled as a VEC or as a VEC-equivalent. It was not possible to compare the environmental components that were the focus of investigation across projects by looking only at VECs and VEC-equivalents.

4.1.1. Impact Analysis Components

Disregarding what were labelled as VECs or VEC-equivalents, the biophysical environmental components that were actually identified and discussed within the impact analysis, mitigation and monitoring sections of the EISs reviewed were consolidated and are referred to in this study as 'impact analysis components'. The impact analysis components were generally more consistent across assessments than VECs or VEC equivalent terms. For example, 'surface water' was used

as a VEC-equivalent in the Improved Manure Storage and Handling Project (Table 3.1, EIS # 29), but it was impacts to 'surface water quality' and 'surface water quantity' that were actually discussed in the analysis section of the EIS. Similarly, in the Rancher's Beef Abbatoir EIS (Table 3.1, EIS # 1), 'water' was identified as a VEC, but 'surface water quality', 'surface water quantity', and 'groundwater quality' were the terms used in discussing potential impacts to water. Even though many terms were identified as VECs and VEC-equivalents for water, all EISs assessing water ultimately discussed impacts to four impact analysis components: surface water quality, groundwater quality, surface water quantity, and groundwater quality. Only one EIS explicitly identified surface water quality as a VEC, but 30 of 35 EISs used surface water quality as an impact analysis component (see Table 4.2).

Water Components											
VEC	VEC-Equivalent	Impact Analysis Component									
Water (1)*	Water Resources (1)										
Hydrological Resources (1)	Groundwater Resources (2)										
Groundwater (2)	Groundwater (1)										
	Surface Water (3)										
	Small, Un-Named Streams (1)										
	South Saskatchewan River (2)										
	Hydrology (3)										
	Hydrogeology (2)										
	Surface Hydrology										
Surface Water Quality (1)	Water Quality (2)	Surface Water Quality (30)									
Groundwater Quality (1)	Water Quality (2)	Groundwater Quality (16)									
Surface Water Quantity (1)	Water Quantity (1)	Surface Water Quantity (15)									
Groundwater Quantity (1)		Groundwater Quantity (8)									
* Indicates actual number of EISs	using component										

Table 4.2: Frequency of occurrence of the terms used to describe the water-related environmental components assessed in 35 EISs from the South Saskatchewan River watershed

4.1.2. VEC Hierarchy and Inconsistency

Across EISs, the VECs or VEC-equivalents used for similar environmental components varied in the level of detail used to describe the components. The broad term *water* was used as a VEC (Table 4.2) in one EIS (the Rancher's Beef Abattoir project, Table 3.1, EIS # 1), for example, whereas the more specific term *groundwater* was used as a VEC in two EISs (Table 3.1, EIS # 20 and EIS # 37) and the even more specific and detailed terms *groundwater quality* and *groundwater quantity* were VECs in another single EIS (the Encana Shallow Gas Infill

Development Project, Table 3.1, EIS # 48). Water, groundwater, and groundwater quality can be understood as a hierarchy of increasingly more detailed descriptions of a single environmental component. The broadest term 'water' is at the apex of the hierarchy, and is at a level of detail that is too general to convey useful information across projects. Groundwater quality, on the other hand is sufficiently detailed and focused to support a useful comparison of similar impacts across projects. The use of components from different levels of the hierarchy contributed to mixed terminology and was another obstacle to comparing content across assessments.

Some of the VECs and VEC-equivalents identified in the EISs can be considered 'frames of reference' rather than actual ecosystem components. For example, terms like hydrology and hydrogeology (see Table 4.2) are scientific disciplines that frame water as an object of study. The study of water, however, may also involve other environmental components, such as soil texture and terrain slope. Ambiguity regarding the intended assessment components was created when disciplines were used as VECs. VEC terminology was also unnecessarily varied and inconsistent between assessments because indirect terms (hydrology) were used for ecosystem components referred to directly in other assessments (surface water quantity).

4.1.3. A Normative Hierarchy for Environmental Components

The variety, inconsistency and variation in the level of detail of VECs and VEC-equivalents were obstacles for the comparison of content between EISs. Accordingly, a normative hierarchy and standard nomenclature was adopted to facilitate further analysis (Figure 4.1). Ecosystem components were categorized by a hierarchy of specificity with 'environment elements', such as air, water and land at the top, embracing the most general level of components, and 'VECs', 'VEC factors' and 'condition parameters' constituting, in turn, progressively more detailed and specific sub-components. VECs are defined in the hierarchy as the impact analysis components described at the level of detail most suitable for sharing general information across assessments, following the Cumulative Effects Assessment Practitioners Guide observation that "VECs represent the investigative focal point of any EIA or CEA." (Hegmann et al. 1999: 12). VEC factors are sub-components of VECs that are not specific enough to be measured directly. Condition parameters, the ecosystem components at the most detailed level, are components that can actually be measured. VECs and VEC factors and condition parameters are all biophysical

environmental components in this framework. Condition parameters are defined here as things that can be measured to provide direct information about the condition or state of biophysical environmental components.

Secondary condition parameters represent the condition of a second VEC impacted by changes in a first VEC. In the Joffre Ethylene Expansion Project (Table 3.1, EIS # 34), for example, the condition of the VEC *aquatic life*, as represented by the condition parameter *algal abundance*, was predicted to be impacted by changes in the VEC *surface water quality*, specifically by changes in the surface water VEC factor *nutrients* (see Figure 4.2). The addition of nutrients was predicted to change surface water quality, which in turn was predicted to affect algal abundance. The relationship between the two VECs (surface water quality and aquatic life) was leveraged as an assessment tool, and algal abundance was used as a surrogate for nutrient concentrations to indirectly represent the condition of surface water quality. Algal abundance was used both as a secondary condition parameter for surface water quality and as a condition parameter for aquatic life.



Figure 4.1: A normative hierarchy for biophysical environmental assessment components



Figure 4.2: Application of normative hierarchy showing condition and secondary condition parameters for the surface water quality VEC factor *nutrients*

Using the environment element 'water' as an example, the EIS review identified condition parameters for all VECs and for most VEC factors (see Table 4.3). The few exceptions were the VEC factors 'surface water volume', 'surface water levels', 'groundwater nutrients', and 'surface water toxicity'. Regarding toxicity, it could be argued that many of the condition parameters for surface water quality, such as metal and organics concentrations, were also condition parameters of surface water toxicity, particularly since toxicity is generally the basis for establishing water quality criteria for metals and organics. Secondary condition parameters were mainly identified for surface water quality, the water VEC most often cited, and to a limited extent for surface water quantity. No secondary condition parameters were identified for groundwater.

4.2. Aquatic VECs

For the remainder of the results presented below the VECs referred to are those that were drawn from the impact analysis components identified in the EIS review, rather than from the environmental components termed 'VECs' per se. Aquatic VECs were identified as the impact analysis components potentially either directly affecting or directly affected by changes in water quality or quantity. Similarly aquatic VEC factors were identified as the impact analysis VEC factors potentially either directly affecting or directly affected by changes in water quality. Water VECs were identified as the aquatic VECs that are sub-components of the element water: surface water quality, surface water quantity, groundwater quality, and groundwater quantity.

The range of aquatic VECs identified in this review covered the full spectrum of environmental elements found in a standard, regulatory-based screening EIA checklist – such as that used by Transport Canada, a federal government authority. All of the VECs included in the Transport Canada standard checklist were identified as aquatic VECs in this review, with the exception of climate. Climate was identified in the checklist and as a VEC linked to green house gas production in the Brooks Power Project EIS (Table 3.1, EIS # 47), but no connection was made in the latter between climate and changes in water. Arguably there is a connection between climate and surface water quantity that is a consequence of green house gas production, and all VECs used in the standard checklist could therefore be considered aquatic VECs.

Table 4.3: Breakdown of *water* into a normative hierarchy of VECs, VEC factors, condition parameters and secondary condition parameters as identified in a review of EISs from the South Saskatchewan River watershed

Element	VEC	VEC Factor	Condition Parameter	Secondary Condition Parameter		
			nitrite, nitrate concentrations (5)	aquatic ecosystem health (include water		
		Nutrients (7)	ammonia (1)	chemistry, benthic invertebrate community		
			phosphorous (5)	structure and benthic algal abundance) (1)		
			chromium (2)	sediment metal concentration (1)		
			arsenic (3)			
	Surface		lead (2)			
Water (33)*	Water		boron (1)			
(00)	Quality (30)	Motolo (4)	aluminum (2)			
		Metals (4)	copper (1)	metal concentrations in fish tissue (2)		
			zinc (1)			
			mercury (4)			
			cadmium (1)			
			selenium (2)			

		turbidity (4)	fish behaviour & physiology (3)
			fish mortality (1)
	Suspended		fish populations (4)
	Solids (23)	total suspended solids (23)	spawning bed porosity (4)
			over-wintering habitat (1)
			benthic invertebrate populations (1)
	Oxygen (2)	dissolved oxygen (2)	
			total gas pressure (1)
			over-inflation of fish swim bladder (1)
			fish health and tissue quality (1)
	Thermal Regime	water temperature (E)	fish mortality (1)
	(5)	water temperature (5)	fish populations (1)
			spawning bed porosity (1)
			invertebrate productivity, species abundance and diversity (1)
	Acidity (4)	pH; field pH (4)	
	Salinity (3)	potassium & sodium & chloride (3)	soil sodium adsorption ratio (1)
	Dethermore (0)	fish pathogen presence (1)	
	Pathogens (2)	fecal coliforms (1)	
		polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (1)	
	Organics (19)	fuels, lubricants, hydraulic fluids & ethanol (15)	
		pesticides (1)	
		total phenolics (2)	
		pentachlorophenol (1)	
			fish abundance (1)
			fish spawning and rearing activities (1)
	Toxicity (2)		fish mortality (1)
			fish health and tissue quality (1)
			benthic invertebrate mean taxonomic richness, density, community structure (1)
	Surface Water Level (8)		amount of nearshore fish habitat (1)
Surface	Surface Water Volume (11)		
Water		stream flow rate (11)	fish mortality (2)
Quantity (15)		stream flow velocity (1)	
	Surface Water	stream flow timing (1)	
	1100 (10)	run-off volume (3)	
		run-off timing (1)	
	General Chemistry (2)	pH, conductivity, major ions, alkalinity, hardness (2)	
		sulphate (2)	
		chloride (3)	
	Salinity (4)	potassium (1)	
Groundwater		sodium (2)	
Quality (16)		mercury (1)	
		aluminum (1)	
	Metals (3)	arsenic (1)	
		boron (1)	
		selenium (1)	

			iron (1)				
		Hydrocarbons (10)	benzene (1)				
		Nutrients (3)					
			total organic carbon (1)				
		Organics (1)	dissolved organic carbon (1)				
		Organics (1)	pesticides (1)				
			phenols (1)				
		Groundwater Level (3)	levels in specific aquifers (1)				
			pump test drawdown and recovery (1)				
	roundwater Quantity (8)	Oran harta	depth of aquifer compared to depth of drawdown (1)				
Ground Quanti		Volume (5)	size and location of the aquifer recharge zone (1)				
			water level trends in area wells during pump test (1)				
			aquifer extent (1)				
		Groundwater	vertical flow rate (1)				
		Flow (6)	horizontal flow rate (1)				
		* Indicate	s actual number of EISs using each co	mponent			

A wide variation was found in the frequency of aquatic VEC use. A number of aquatic VECs were linked to project activities in only one or two EISs: aquatic, community and landscape biodiversity; aquatic invertebrates; wildlife; and sediment quality (Figure 4.3). This raised the possibility that review of a larger sample size may have identified additional aquatic VECs.

The four aquatic VECs that were identified most frequently in the EISs reviewed (Figure 4.2), namely surface water quality, soil stability, fish, and fish habitat, were cited together in 15 assessments in the context of surface disturbance leading to soil erosion and the introduction of deleterious substances to surface waters, which is an indictable offence under section 36 (3) of the *Fisheries Act* (Canada 1985). Similarly, the most frequently used biodiversity aquatic VEC (species diversity) was cited in the context of the *Species at Risk Act* (Canada 2002) in all 10 EISs where it was used. VECs with the potential to expose a proponent to penalties under federal legislation were used at least twice as frequently as any other aquatic VEC for five of the six environment elements identified in the review.
Element	Aquatic VEC			E	IS	wit	h Ir	npa	act	to	Aqι	Jati	сV	EC			
Air	Air Quality																
	Surface Water Quality																
Wator	Groundwater Quality							Π						Π			Π
Walei	Surface Water Quantity																Π
	Groundwater Quantity																
	Sediment Quality																
	Wetland Quality																\square
Land	Wetland Quantity																
Lanu	Soil Quality																\square
	Soil Stability																
	Terrain																
	Vegetation																
	Wildlife																
Organisms	Migratory Birds																
Organisms	Fish																
	Herpetiles																
	Aquatic Invertebrates																
	Wildlife Habitat																
Hahitat	Waterbird Habitat																
nabitat	Fish Habitat																
	Herpetile Habitat																
	Landscape Biodiversity													Γ			
Riodiversity	Community Diversity																
Diourveronty	Species Diversity																
	Aquatic Biodiversity						T										

Figure 4.3: Frequency of project impacts to aquatic VECs as identified in a review of 35 EISs from the South Saskatchewan River Watershed

4.3. Analysis of the Use and Selection of Aquatic VECs

The first part of objective (iv), considering whether the aquatic VECs and aquatic VEC indicators used in EIA may be useful for WCEA, was addressed first through an examination of five factors that may have affected the selection and use of aquatic VECs: 1) type of assessment (screening or comprehensive), 2) whether public consultation may have contributed to VEC selection, 3) level of governing authority (provincial, federal or harmonized), 4) particular responsible authority (province or federal agency), and 5) class of project. The results of the examinations were then analyzed for implications of scaling up aquatic VECs and indicators used in EIA to WCEA.

4.3.1. Aquatic VEC Use by Assessment Type

There were differences in the aquatic VECs used between screening and comprehensive type assessments, and between provincial, federal, and harmonized provincial-federal assessments (Table 4.4). The range of VECs selected for consideration by screening assessments was more limited than that of comprehensive assessments. Only comprehensive assessments addressed impacts to wildlife, waterfowl and shorebird habitats and landscape-scale, community-scale and aquatic biodiversity; and not to groundwater quantity, sediment quality and wetlands at least ten times more frequently than screening assessments. Comprehensive assessments contained 2.7 times as many water VECs as screening assessments, on average.

Provincial assessments differed from both federal screening and comprehensive assessments. In contrast to federal assessments, provincial assessments consistently included groundwater quantity and excluded biodiversity, vegetation, sediments, and wetlands. Only provincial assessments from Alberta included aquatic invertebrates. The single project (Table 3.1, EIS # 47) that included over 90% of the aquatic VECs identified in the review (see Table 4.4) was a harmonized comprehensive assessment initially under the authority of Alberta Environment, later co-ordinated by the federal DFO: a proposed strip mine and coal-burning power plant situated on an irrigation reservoir and managed wetland.

4.3.2. Aquatic VEC Use by Public Consultation Category

All comprehensive assessments and 23% of screening assessments reviewed in this study engaged some degree of public consultation in the scoping phase of the assessment where the potential project impacts and VECs were determined (Table 4.5). The role of public consultation in VEC selection was divided into three categories for analysis in this review: 1) the 66% of the EISs that had no form of public consultation, 2) the 17% of EISs with public consultation that claimed it did not affect EIS content, 3) the 17% of EISs that indicated public consultation did or may have affected VEC selection. The 'may have' category included 60% of comprehensive assessments and 9% of screening assessments. Screening, provincial, harmonized and comprehensive type assessments were nearly evenly represented in the two categories of EISs that engaged public participation. Overall, assessments with some form of public consultation used nine aquatic VECs that were not used in assessments without public consultation.

Element	Aquatic VEC													ļ	Sc	ree	eni	ng														Co	mpr	ehe	nsi	ve
Air	Air Quality										S														S				S			С				
	Surface Water Quality	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S		S	S			S	S	S	S	S	S		S	S	S	S	С	С	С	С	
\\/ator	Groundwater Quality	S	S	S		S	S									S					S		S				S		S	S	S	С	С		С	С
Water	Surface Water Quantity	S					S		S				S	S			S	S	S			S			S				S	S		С	С		С	
	Groundwater Quantity																								S		S		S	S	S	С	С		С	
	Sediment Quality																															С				
	Wetland Quality																								S								С	С		
Land	Wetland Quantity																											S				С	С	С	С	
Land	Soil Quality	S				S										S						S							S				С		С	
	Soil Stability	S		S	S		S		S	S	S		S		S		S	S					S	S	S	S			S			С	С		С	
	Terrain	S S															С	С	С	С																
	Vegetation	ain S S S S S S C C ation S S S S S S C C Ilife I I I I I I I I C															С	С	С																	
	Wildlife	Vegetation S S S S C Wildlife Image: S I															С			С																
Organisms	Migratory Birds	S																S										S				С		С	С	
Organisms	Fish	S			S				S		S	S	S	S			S	S	S			S		S	S					S	S	С	С	С	С	
	Herpetiles						S																		S							С		С		
	Aquatic Invertebrates																													S		С				
	Wildlife Habitat										S																	S				С	С	С		С
Habitat	Migratory Bird Habitat																															С			С	
Παριται	Fish Habitat	S			S	S	S		S	S	S	S	S	S	S		S	S	S			S		S	S	S		S		S	S	С	С	С	С	
	Herpetile Habitat																		S			S			S							С		С		
	Landscape Biodiversity																															С				
Biodiversity	Community Biodiversity																															С		С		
Diouiversity	Species Biodiversity		S	S			S											S	S					S	S							С		С	С	
	Aquatic Biodiversity																															С				
	EIS number	1*	2*	3*	4*	ວ ໍ	.9	7*	ά	°.	11*	12*	13*	14*	16*	20*	22*	23*	25*	26*	27*	28*	29*	32*	35*	36*	37*	45*	33**	34**	42***	47***	48*	49*	50*	51*
																				-																
	* Assessment by federal	au	tho	ority	/											_	So	cre	en	ing	typ	be a	ass	es	sm	ner	it w	vith	n ao	qua	atic	VE	С	_		S
	** Assessment by provin	cia	la	uth	orit	y										С	om	pre	ehe	ens	ive	typ	be a	ass	ses	sn	ner	nt v	vitł	۱a	qua	atic	VEC)		С
	*** Harmonized provincia	ıl a	nd	fec	dera	al a	utł	nori	ty																											

 Table 4.4: Frequency of aquatic VEC use by assessment type and by government authority

The number and diversity of aquatic VECs used in both screening and comprehensive assessments increased with successively higher categories of input from public consultation (Table 4.5). Screening assessments that claimed public consultation affected VEC selection used 1.4 times as many aquatic VECs as screening assessments that claimed public consultation did not affect VEC selection, and twice as many aquatic VECs as screening assessments with no public consultation. Comprehensive assessments that claimed public consultation affected VEC selection used four aquatic VECs that were not used in any other assessments (sediment quality, landscape, community and aquatic biodiversity). Public consultation appears to have increased the number and range of aquatic VECs used in both assessment types when it was employed, most particularly in assessments that claimed public consultation may have affected VEC selection.

4.3.3. Aquatic VEC Use by Responsible Authority

Differences were found across responsible authorities in the aquatic VECs used (Table 4.6). The only authority to consistently include wetlands, the NEB, was also the only authority not to consider aquatic impacts related to soil. In all but one EIS, AAFC was similarly consistent in aquatic VEC selection: strong on surface water quality, groundwater quality and species diversity, but weak on wetlands, vegetation, herpetiles and water quantity. Biodiversity, soil quality, air quality and groundwater were consistently not selected for use by DFO, but were selected by most other authorities. Within screening type assessments, DFO always selected surface water quality and fish habitat, selected soil stability in more than 80% of EISs and selected fish in 50% of EISs. Some water-related ecosystem components, such as landscape biodiversity and wetland quality, were seldom considered by any responsible authority.

Table 4.5: Frequency of EISs with public consultation that did not or that may have affected VEC selection and those with no public consultation by responsible authority and assessment type

Element	VEC	C D V	id I	Pu nsu No Se	blio Ilta t A	c itic ffe cti	on ect on	C A	Cor Ma ffe Se	Pu nsu ay ecte	blid Ilta Ha ed cti	c itio ve VE on	on EC								No	P	ubl	lic	Co	ons	ult	ati	ion	I					
Air	Air Quality			S					S		С											S											Π		Τ
	Surface Water Quality	S	S	S	s	С		S	S	s	С	С	С	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S		S	S			S	S	S	S
Motor	Groundwater Quality	S	S	S	s	С	С	S			С	С		S	S	S		S									S						S		S
water	Surface Water Quantity	S		S		С		S	S		С	С		S						S				S	S			S	S	S		S	\square		Т
	Groundwater Quantity			S	S	С		S	S		С	С	Π																				П		S
	Sediment Quality										С																								
	Wetland Quality								S			С	С																				П		
Lond	Wetland Quantity					С				S	С	С	С																						T
Land	Soil Quality			S		С						С		S				S									S					S	П		
	Soil Stability	S		S		С			S		С	С		S		S	S			S	S	S		S		S		S	S				S	S	S
	Terrain			S	s	С			S		С	С	С					S															Π		S
	Vegetation					С			S		С	С	С				S							S	S			S	S				П		Т
	Wildlife					С					С																								
Organiama	Migratory Birds					С				S	С		С	S															S				П		
Organisms	Fish				S	С		S	S		С	С	С	S			S			S		S	S	S	S			S	S	S		S		S	
	Herpetiles	S							S		С		С																				П		T
	Aquatic Invertebrates							S			С																						П		
	Wildlife Habitat						С			S	С	С	С									S											H		
Liekitet	Migratory Bird Habitat					С					С																						П		1
Habitat	Fish Habitat	S			S	С		S	S	S	С	С	С	S			S	S		S	S	S	S	s	S	S		S	s	S		S		s	s
	Herpetile Habitat								S		С		С																	s		S	П		
	Landscape Biodiversity										С																							1	1
	Community Biodiversity										С		С																				H		-
Biodiversity	Species Biodiversity	S				С			S		С		С		S	S													s	s				s	1
	Aquatic Biodiversity								Г		С																						П	Т	
	Responsible Authority	AAFC	AAFC	SK	SK/WD	AAFC	PCA	AB	PCA	NEB	AB/DFO	DND	NEB	AAFC	AAFC	AAFC	AAFC	WEDC	AAFC	DFO	DFO	PCA	PCA	TC	DFO	DFO	TC	DFO	TC	PCA	NRC	NRC	AAFC	AAFC	DND DND
	EIS number	•*9	27*	33**	42***	50*	51*	34**	35*	45*	47***	48*	49*	-*	2*	*o	4*	5*	7*	8*	°8	11*	12*	13*	14*	16*	20*	22*	23*	25*	26*	28*	29*	32*	36° 37*
	Natural Resouces Cana	ada	a													Ν	R	С					\$	orc	or	nin	a /	100	200	201	me	nt			s
	Agriculture and Agri-Fo	od	С	an	ada	а										AA	١F	С					0				y r	133	500	531	ne	7110			Ŭ
	Department of Fisheries	s a	Inc	10	ce	an	IS									D	FC)				С	٥m	nn	۰۵h	۵n	e iv		Δοι	200	201	me	nt		C
	Transport Canada															٦	ГС					0	011	ipi	CII	CI	31			50.	501	110			C
	Province of Alberta															ŀ	٩B						ł	Ē			al	Δe	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	m	ant			
	Province of Saskatchew	vai	n													S	SΚ							1.	80			13	30	33					
	Western Economic Div	ers	sific	cat	ior	۱C	Car	nac	la							V	VE)					**	Р	rov	in	cio		66		er	ne	nt		
	Department of National	De	efe	nc	е											D	N	D						F.	-01										
	Department of National Defence National Energy Board													Ν	E	3					***	ц	arn	nc	niz	b d	٨٥		200	m	ant				
	Parks Canada Agency															Ρ	C/	4						1 10	an	10	1112	GU	73	530	.33		GIIL		

The Riverhurst Irrigation Expansion project (Table 3.1, EIS # 7) has been included in the linear corridor class in this review because it was limited in scope to the laying of pipeline for irrigation expansion, but like most of the other assessments under the authority of AAFC, including all of those in the agriculture class, it did not address surface water quantity or the impact of additional water withdrawal on the ecology of the South Saskatchewan River system. Two EISs by AAFC did discuss surface water quantity without examining environmental impacts: the Rancher`s Beef Abattoir project (Table 3.1, EIS # 1) discussed impacts to surface water quantity only in the context of municipal water licensing; and the Maple Creek Dam Rehabilitation project (Table 3.1, EIS # 6) foresaw that there would be no changes to surface water availability during the construction of the project. Ecological impacts from water withdrawal were also not assessed by the Encana Shallow Gas Infill Development Project (Table 3.1, EIS # 48) that cited the Master Agreement on Apportionment, a political agreement that allows a 50% flow reduction in the South Saskatchewan River in each province, as the rationale. It was argued that the additional withdrawal of water for the project would not result in a violation of the agreement, so therefore the impacts of water withdrawal need not be considered in the assessment.

4.3.4. Aquatic VEC Use by Project Class

Differences were also found between project classes in terms of the aquatic VECs selected, and within project classes in terms of the consistency of VECs used (Table 4.7). Agriculture and instream construction, for example, were more consistent in VEC use than were urban enterprises and contaminated sites. Surface water quality, surface water quantity, fish, and fish habitat were used quite consistently by all responsible authorities within the in-stream construction class, while groundwater quality, vegetation, migratory birds, herpetiles and species biodiversity were used inconsistently within the class. Contaminated sites were consistent only in selecting groundwater quality, and urban enterprises had no consistency across projects. Agriculture projects were the only projects not to consider impacts to water quantity; were less likely than most other project classes to consider habitat impacts; less likely than linear corridors, oil and gas, mines and prescribed burn projects to consider wetlands; and less likely than linear corridors to consider impacts to migratory birds.

Element	VEC	N	RC				/	٩A	FC							0	DFC)			AB	SK	1	тс	;	D١	١D	W	/D		P	PCA	`		NEE
Air	Air Quality																			С		S									S	;	S		Т
	Surface Water Quality	S		S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	С	S	S	S	S	S	S	С	S	S		S	S		С	S	S		S	S	s	0,	S C
\A/atan	Groundwater Quality			s	s	s		s	S		s		С							С	S	s	s			s	С	S	s				(С	Т
vvaler	Surface Water Quantity								S		S							S		С	s						С						Т		Т
	Groundwater Quantity												С							С		S					С						s		Т
	Sediment Quality																			С													Т		Т
	Wetland Quality																										С					;	s		С
Lond	Wetland Quantity												С						П	С							С						Т		S C
Land	Soil Quality	S							S				С									S	S				С	S					Т		Т
	Soil Stability				S	S	S		S		S	S	С	S	S		S	S	S	С		S		S	S		С				S		S		
	Terrain												С							С		S				S	С	S	S				S		С
	Vegetation						S						С			S		S		С				S	S		С						S		С
	Wildlife												С							С															
Organisms	Wilding S C C C S C S C S C S C S C S C S C S C S C S C S C S </td <td></td> <td>00</td> <td>S C</td>															00	S C																		
Organishis	Migratory Birds S S C C C S S C S C S C S C S C S C S C S C S C S C S C S C S S C S S C S S C S S C S S C S S C S S C S S C S S C S S C S S C S S C S S C S S C S S C S S C S														S		С																		
	Migratory Birds S C C S														s		С																		
	FISTI S S S S S S Herpetiles S S S S S Aquatic Invertebrates S S S S																		С	S															
	Wildlife Habitat																			С							С				S		s	0	S C
Hobitat	Migratory Bird Habitat												С							С															
Παυιιαι	Fish Habitat	S					S		S		S	S	С	S	S	S	S	S	S	С	S			S	S		С	S	S	S	S	S	s	0,	S C
	Herpetile Habitat	S																		С										S			S		С
	Landscape Biodiversity																			С													Т		Т
Riadivaraity	Community Biodiversity																			С															С
Biodiversity	Species Biodiversity			S	S						S	S	С							С					S					S			s		С
	Aquatic Biodiversity																			С															
	EIS number	28*	26*	2*	3*	29*	4*	27*	1*	7*	6*	32*	50*	8*	9*	14*	16*	22*	36*	47***	34**	33**	20*	13*	23*	37*	48*	5*	42***	25*	11*	12*	35*	51*	45° 49*
	Natural	Re	eso	ouc	es	С	ana	nda	a							Ν	IRC	2				* Δ	22	200	sme	ant	hv	Fe	ade	ral	Δı	utho	vritv	,	
	Agriculture	an	d A	١gr	'i-F	00	d C	Car	nac	la						A	AF	С				,	.00		51110	5111	Uy		Juc	nui	7.0		,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	/	
	Department	of	Fis	he	rie	s a	nd	0	cea	ans	S					D	DFC)			1	·* Δ	222	220	me	nt l	hv	Pro	ovi	nci	al A	Lutk	nor	itv	
	Pro	vin	се	of	Al	bei	ta										AB					7.	550	.00	me		<i>by</i>		0 11		ui 7	uu		ity	
	Provinc	e c	of S	Sas	ska	tcł	nev	/ar	۱								SK				***	Har	mo	niz	he	Pro	ovi	nci	al/	Fer	ler	al A	41111	nor	itv
	Western Econo	mi	сĽ	Div	ers	ific	ati	on	Са	ana	ada	a				\	NC)				. iui			.50		5.11				2011	a. 7			• ,
	Departmer	nt d	of N	Vat	tior	nal	De	fe	nce	Э						D)N[D				S	۰re	en	inc	n tv	ne	م	556	200	m	ent			S
	Natio	nal	Er	ner	gy	Bo	bar	d								N	IEE	3				0		5.1		<i>,</i> י	γC	, u	000	.00		ont			
	Parks	s C	an	ad	a A	٩ge	enc	y								F	PC/	4			С	om	Dre	he	ene	sive	e tv	vne	e e	SS	289	sme	ent		C
	Tra	ns	роі	rt C	Car	nac	la										тс				0	0.11	ייץ					, ,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	<i>.</i> u	550			2111		

 Table 4.6: Frequency of aquatic VEC use displayed by responsible authority with assessment type and governing authority

Perhaps the most notable result in Table 4.7 is that there were differences in VEC selection across responsible authorities within the same project class. For in-stream construction projects, for example, only DFO did not link water impacts to biodiversity; only AAFC linked impacts to herpetiles and groundwater quality; only PCA considered herpetile habitat; only DFO and TC considered vegetation; only TC considered migratory birds. Results indicated varied VEC selection preferences by different responsible authorities assessing similar projects. It is also apparent that within each of the linear corridor, in-stream construction and mines project classes, comprehensive type assessments generally used more aquatic VECs than screening type assessments.

Element	VEC		A 2010-141-120	Agriculture				Ċ	Linear Corrigors				Petrochemical	Oil and Gas	Contaminated	Sites	0000					In-Stream	Construction						Ndia oo	MIDES		Prescribed Burns			Urban Enterprise	
Air	Air Quality																												S	С	S		S		Π	
	Surface Water Quality	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	С	С	S	S	S	С		S		S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S		S	S	S	С	S	S	S		S	
Water	Groundwater Quality	S	S	S		S				С		S	S	С	S	S	С	S											S	С					S	S
Water	Surface Water Quantity							s		С			S	С				S	s		S	s		s	s	s			S	С			S		s	
	Groundwater Quantity									С			S	С		S													S	С			S			S
	Sediment Quality																													С						
	Wetland Quality								С					С																L			S			
Land	Wetland Quantity								С	С	S			С																С		L				
20110	Soil Quality					S		S		С	_			С	S														S	L		L			S	
	Soil Stability S S C C Terrain S C C C																	S	S	S	S		S	S	S		S	S	S	С	S	L	S		S	
	Soil Stability S S C C Terrain S C C Vegetation S C C Wildlife C C C															S													S	С		L	S		Ш	S
	Soil Quality S S C C C S S C C S S C <t< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>1</td><td>S</td><td>S</td><td></td><td>S</td><td>S</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>С</td><td></td><td>L</td><td>S</td><td></td><td></td><td></td></t<>																			1	S	S		S	S					С		L	S			
	Soil Stability S S C C Terrain S C C C Vegetation S C C C Wildlife C C C C Migratory Birds C C S C Fish S S C S																													С		L				
Organisms	Migratory Birds	S														S					С		L			S										
g	Soil Stability S S S C C C Terrain S S C C C C Vegetation S S C C C C Wildlife S C C C C Migratory Birds S S S C C S Fish S S S C S C Herpetiles S S S S S Aquatic Invertebrates S S C S Wildlife Habitat S S C S															S			S	ł	S	S		S	S	S	S	L		С	S	S	S		S	
	Terrain S C C Vegetation S C C Wildlife C C C Migratory Birds C C S Fish S S C S Herpetiles C S S Wildlife Habitat C S S																	S												С	L	L	S			
	Aquatic Invertebrates	Terrain S C C C Vegetation S C C C Wildlife C C C C Migratory Birds C C S C Fish S S C C Herpetiles C S S Aquatic Invertebrates C S C Wildlife Habitat C S C																												С	L					
	Soil Stability S S C															С													С	S						
Habitat	Soil Stability S S C C C Terrain S C C C C C C Vegetation S C C C C C C C Wildlife S C C C C C C C Migratory Birds S S S C C S C Fish S S C C S C C C C Aquatic Invertebrates S C S C S C																												С	L						
indentat	Vegetation S C C Wildlife S C C Migratory Birds C C S Fish S S C Aquatic Invertebrates C S C Wildlife Habitat C S C Herpetile Habitat S S C Herpetile Habitat S S C															S		S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S	S		С	S	S	S		S	
	Wildlife C C Migratory Birds C C Fish S S C Aquatic Invertebrates C S C Wildlife Habitat C S C Fish Habitat C S C Migratory Birds C S C																								S				С			S				
	Landscape Biodiversity																													С						
Biodiversity	Community Biodiversity								С																					С						
Bloarvorony	Species Biodiversity	S	S						С	С								S							S	s	S			С			S			
	Aquatic Biodiversity																													С						
	Responsible Authority	AAFC	AAFC	AAFC	AAFC	WEDC	AAFC	NRC	NEB	AAFC	NEB	AAFC	AB	DND	TC	SK/WD	PCA	AAFC	DFO	DFO	TC	DFO	DFO	DFO	TC	PCA	AAFC	DFO	SK	AB/DFO	PCA	PCA	PCA	NRC	AAFC	DND
	EIS number	2*	3*	29*	4*	5*	۲*	28*	49*	50*	45*	27*	34**	48*	20*	42***	51*	6*	8*	6*	13*	14*	16*	22*	23*	25*	32*	36*	33**	47***	11*	12*	35*	26*	*	37*
	Natural Resouces Cana	da														N	R	2					S	cre	امد	nin	a J	Δ٩	202	ser	ne	nt				S
	Agriculture and Agri-Foc	od (Са	nad	da											AA	٩F	С					0	011			·9 /	.0		201						Ŭ
	Department of Fisheries	ar	١d	Ос	ea	Ins	;									D	FC)				C	Cor	np	reł	her	nsiv	/e	Ass	ses	sm	her	ıt			С
	Transport Canada															-	ΤС																			Ŭ
	Province of Alberta															1	٩B						,	* F	ec	ler	al	As	se	SS	me	ent				
	Province of Saskatchew	an				_										3	SK							-	-											
	Western Economic Dive	ersi	tic	atic	n	Ca	ana	ada	a							V	۷Ľ)					,	**	Pro	ovir	ncia	al A	٩ss	es	sm	ien	t			
	Department of National	De	ter	nce)											D	N	נ	ļ											_	_					_
	National Energy Board															N		3					**:	* ⊢	lar	mo	oniz	zec	A	sse	SS	me	nt			
	National Energy Board N Parks Canada Person												U/	4													_	_	_							

Table 4.7: Frequency of aquatic VEC use displayed by project class with assessment type, governing authority and responsible authority

4.3.5. Factors Affecting Aquatic VEC Selection

The analysis of aquatic VEC use revealed four factors affecting VEC selection. First, VEC selection was significantly affected by regulatory mechanisms such as indictable offences, licensing, and inter-provincial agreements. Aquatic VECs protected by punitive federal legislation were selected more than twice as frequently as other aquatic VECs; an irrigation expansion project, an abattoir and a biofuel production facility, all under the authority of AAFC,

cited water licensing as justification for not assessing impacts of water withdrawal on surface water quantity (with the consequence that impacts on other aquatic VECs from changes in surface water quantity were overlooked); the impacts to surface water quality from the abattoir and biofuel facility were overlooked because wastewater was directed to a licensed municipal system; and an oil and gas development did not consider cumulative impacts to surface water quantity because withdrawals did not breach an inter-provincial agreement on flow allocations. There were biases in aquatic VEC selection driven by adherence to regulatory mechanisms.

Second, there were differences between responsible authorities in the aquatic VECs selected even within the same project class and assessment type. The NEB was the only authority to consistently included wetlands, and the only authority not to consider aquatic impacts to soil; AAFC was uniquely consistent in aquatic VEC selection across different project classes, strong on surface water quality, groundwater quality and species diversity, but weak on wetlands, vegetation, herpetiles and water quantity; within screening assessments DFO consistently selected surface water quality and fish habitat, and soil stability, and consistently did not select biodiversity, soil quality, air quality or groundwater. For in-stream construction projects, only DFO did not include biodiversity, only AAFC used herpetiles and groundwater quality, only PCA considered herpetile habitat, and only TC considered migratory birds. There were biases in aquatic VEC selection driven by the preferences of different responsible authorities.

Third, there were differences in the number of aquatic VECs used by each assessment type within project classes. Comprehensive type assessments consistently used more aquatic VECs than screening type assessments in the linear corridor, in-stream construction and mines project classes. This is an indication that impacts to some aquatic VECs may have been overlooked in the less stringent screening type of assessment.

Fourth, both the number and diversity of aquatic VECs selected for assessment was higher in assessments that engaged some form of public consultation. This was observed even in assessments with public consultation that claimed the consultation did not affect VEC selection, but most particularly in those assessments that indicated public consultation did or may have affected VEC selection. Public consultation increased the number and diversity of aquatic VECs selected.

4.4. Analysis of the Use and Selection of Indicators for Water VECs

In support of the second part of objective (iv), considering whether the indicators used for aquatic VECs in EIA could be scaled up for use in WCEA, the use and selection of indicators for water VECs was examined. Both indicators explicitly labelled as 'indicators', and the measurable parameters actually used to assess potential impacts to surface water quality, were identified and examined. The sub-sections that follow present the findings with a hierarchical structure used to facilitate the comparison of measurable parameters across projects.

4.4.1. Indicators Used for Water Quality and Quantity VECs

Indicators used for predicting, assessing, or monitoring changes in aquatic VECs due to project activities were explicitly identified in 100% of comprehensive type assessments, and in only 7% of screening type assessments. Indicators for water VECs (surface and groundwater quality and quantity) were used in 60% of comprehensive and 7% of screening assessments. Two categories of indicators were identified as indicators in the review: effects-based indicators used to assess the condition of aquatic VECs potentially affected by project activities, and stressor-based indicators used to assess the project stresses potentially affecting aquatic VECs.

Effects-based indicators were explicitly identified as indicators for each of the four water VECs in the EISs reviewed (Table 4.8). For example, suspended solids concentration was labelled as an indicator for surface water quality in the Rancher's Beef Abattoir project (Table 3.1, EIS # 1). Stressor-based indicators were also explicitly identified as indicators for two of the water VECs: surface water quality and groundwater quality. Groundwater quality of overburden aquifers, for example, was labelled as an indicator for surface water quality and groundwater quality was identified as an indicator of stress to surface water quality, and surface water quality was identified as an indicator of stress to groundwater quality. In both cases there was a perceived relationship between groundwater and surface water that allows contaminants from one to affect the other, and each was therefore a stressor-based indicator for the other. Air potential acidifying input, sediment metal and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon (PAH) concentrations and slope vegetation were also used as indicators of stress to surface water quality in the EISs reviewed.

Indicators were drawn from each of the lower three levels of the normative component hierarchy: VECs, VEC factors, and condition parameters were all identified as indicators (see Table 4.8). In some cases indicators at the level of VECs have been broken down into indicators at the more detailed and measurable level of parameters within the same EIS. Groundwater quality, for example, was used as a VEC-level stressor-based indicator for surface water quality in the Brooks Power Project (Table 3.1, EIS # 47), and condition parameters of groundwater quality, such as pH and aluminum concentration were also used as stressor-based indicators for surface water quality in the same EIS. Condition parameters from a second VEC used as stressor-based indicators for the VEC under consideration are referred to as stress parameters in this study. Stress parameters are described more fully in section 4.4.2.

4.4.2. Adopting a Normative Hierarchy for Stresses to Water VECs

Relationships between condition parameters and project stressors, and relationships between stress parameters and water VECs were frequently identified in the EIS review and used to assess impacts, even though the parameters were not always referred to as indicators. In order to compare the use of indicators across assessments, therefore, a review was conducted to identify all condition and stress parameters used in relation to water VECs. The condition and stress parameters identified, rather than the few parameters labelled as indicators, were then used as a basis for comparison.

Stress parameters for water VECs were identified in the review using a normative hierarchy for water stressors (see Figure 4.4). In the hierarchy, stress parameters are at the detailed lower level where stress can be measured directly and quantitatively, and projects are at the broad upper level where stressors are general in nature. Stress parameters measure the project stressors that directly affect a particular VEC, and indirect stress parameters measure changes in other VECs that in turn affect the VEC under consideration. In the case of atmospheric deposition of mercury in the Brooks Power Project (Table 3.1, EIS # 47), for example, the quantity of mercury that was expected to be deposited directly into the Kitsim Reservoir was a stress parameter for surface water quality, and the quantity of mercury expected to settle into the reservoir sediment, where it could be re-activated through methylation, was an indirect stress parameter for surface water quality. Only five assessments used an explicit indicator for a water VEC, and no individual

water VEC indicator was used in more than a single assessment. Three assessments used explicit and quantifiable indicators for impacts to surface water quality.

Independent stress parameters were also identified in the review. Independent stress parameters are environmental factors not affected by human activities that contribute to natural variability and affect the magnitude of the project stress impacts. For example, terrain slope and extreme run-off events are two environmental components that may determine the intensity of soil erosion and therefore the magnitude of the suspended solids concentration in surface water following upslope ground disturbance by a project. Terrain slope and run-off intensity are environmental condition parameters that qualify the relationship between the VEC surface water quality and the project activity of ground disturbance, even though they are not directly affected by the project.

Stress parameters were used more frequently than either indirect stress parameters or independent stress parameters for assessing surface water quality (Table 4.9). Stress parameters were used for 85% of surface water quality stress factors; indirect stress parameters for 15% and independent stress parameters for 23%. Only one surface water quality stress factor, erosion from ground disturbance, was served by all three types of stress parameter.

4.4.3. Surface Water Condition and Stress Parameter Use by Category

This study analyzed the use of condition parameters (including secondary condition parameters) and stress parameters (including indirect and independent stress parameters) for surface water quality, the most frequently-cited VEC, and surface water quantity using the same approach applied to aquatic VECs. The frequency of parameter use was examined using four categories: project class, assessment type, governing authority and responsible authority (Table 4.10 and Figure 4.11). Patterns of parameter use were then examined within and across categories.

In general, the number of surface water quality parameters examined in individual projects appeared to be linked to the magnitude of the project's impact on water, regardless of assessment type or responsible authority. The Brooks Power Project (EIS # 47, see Table 3.1), a harmonized comprehensive assessment, with the largest footprint and widest scope of impact to the aquatic

environment of all the projects examined in this review, identified both stress and condition parameters for 80% of surface water quality factors.

Table 4.8: Indicators for water VECs as identified in a review of 35 EISs from the South
Saskatchewan River watershed, displayed by corresponding position in the normative
component hierarchy

Indicator Position in Component Hierarchy	Indicators Used for Surface Water Quality	Indicators Used for Surface Water Quantity	Indicators Used for Groundwater Quality	Indicators Used for Groundwater Quantity
VEC	groundwater quality of overburden aquifers* (1)***		surface water quality* (1)	
	surface water quality at other specific locations** (1)		groundwater quality at other locations** (1)	
VEC Factor	suspended sediment concentrations** (1)	flow regime on the Bow River** (1) flow regime in Antelope Coulee Spillway** (1) site runoff [volume]** (1)		groundwater levels in aquifers** (1)
Condition Parameter			pH, Eh, conductivity, Ca, Mg, TDS, Al, As, B, Se, Fe** (1)	pump test drawdown and recovery** (1) water level trends in area wells during pump test** (1) depth of aquifer compared to depth of drawdown during pump test** (1) size and location of the aquifer recharge zone** (1) well yields in aquifers** (1) extent of aquifers** (1)
Stress Parameter	modelled potential acidifying input from air emissions* (1) sediment concentrations of metals and PAH* (1) revegetation of exposed slopes* (1) groundwater pH, Eh, conductivity, Ca, Mg, TDS, AI, As, B, Se, Fe* (1) ed indicator			
** Effects-base	ed indicator			
*** Actual num	ber of EISs using indicato	r		



Figure 4.4: A normative hierarchy for categorizing stresses to water VECs based on an increasing level of detail from projects to parameters

Three smaller in-stream construction projects (EISs # 6, # 8 & # 23, Table 3.1), which were screening assessments conducted by different responsible authorities, had condition parameters for 50% or more of surface water quality VEC Factors, and stress parameters for between 10% and 30% of VEC factors. All other projects, with arguably less impact on water, and including four comprehensive assessments, had a mix of stress and condition parameters for 40% or fewer of the surface water quality factors.

Differences were found between responsible authorities in which surface water quality factors had condition or stress parameters, however, there were no clear patterns in parameter selection by different responsible authorities within any project class. Stress and condition parameters for nutrients, for example, were common in projects conducted by AAFC, and absent in projects conducted by DFO, TC, DND, PCA and NEB. However AAFC could not be compared to other

responsible authorities within distinct project classes because AAFC was the sole responsible authority with projects in the agriculture class, and in the in-stream construction class where other authorities also had projects, AAFC was inconsistent in the use of nutrient parameters. Similarly, DFO consistently used condition parameters for organics (related to spills of automotive fluids), while PCA consistently did not use parameters for organics; however, the two authorities generally conducted projects in different classes, so there was no robust comparison available to confirm the pattern within a single class. While bias in parameter selection by responsible authority could not be ruled out, there was no clear evidence to support a finding of bias independent of project class.

Toxicity was the one surface water factor more often assessed by stress parameters than by condition parameters. This may be related to the above observation that while toxicity is used as the basis for establishing surface water quality criteria for many water quality factors, such as particular metal and organic concentration, the condition of a metal or organic concentration in water is not itself labelled as a toxicity factor. For example, mercury concentration in effluent (a stress parameter) may be identified as a toxicity factor, when mercury concentration in the receiving stream (a condition parameter), is identified as a metal factor. Condition parameters were cited slightly more frequently than stress parameters for most other surface water quality factors when both impact analysis and monitoring requirements were considered. There were two exceptions: organics concentrations in receiving water (generally related to potential spills of automotive fluids) were cited four times as often as organics stress parameters, and the magnitude of surface water flow was cited three times as often as stress parameters affecting flow. In general, however, when both the impact analysis and monitoring aspects of the EISs were taken into account, condition parameters were used marginally more frequently than stress parameters to assess impacts to surface water quality factors.

Multiple linkage cause-effect mechanisms may be discerned from the 40% of surface water quality factors (nutrients, metals, suspended solids and salinity) that had both indirect stress parameters (that affected surface water quality), and secondary condition parameters (that were affected by changes in surface water quality).

Table 4.9: Project classes, stress factors and stress parameters affecting surface water qua	ality as
identified in a review of 35 EISs from the South Saskatchewan River watershed	-

Stress Factor	Stress Parameter	Indirect Stress Parameter	Independent Stress Parameter
w ater w ithdraw al (1)			
	amount and distribution of bare ground (12)	upslope vegetation loss (3)	extreme run-off events (1)
orogion from ground	discharge disturbed area (1)	quality of bank vegetation (3)	terrain slope (4)
disturbance (23)	amount of channelization and bank	amount of organic material covering the mineral soil (1)	creek size (1)
	armourment (1)	vegetative community diversity	soil resistance to
		(1)	w ater erosion (1)
channel alteration (9)	amount of streambed disturbance (3)		
use of toxic material (2)	number of power poles in water (1)		
	w asteload allocation screening (1)		
	effluent metal concentration (arsenic,		
	chromium, mercury, zinc,) (1)		
effluent discharge (6)	effluent fecal collionnis (1)		
	ernuent total phenolics (1)		
	effluent IDS (1)		
	effluent total phosphorous (1)		
	acute w hole effluent toxicity (1)		
	groundwater AL, As, B, Se, Pb, Hg (1)		
	groundw ater transport pattern (2)		
	groundw ater flow pattern (1)		
contamination from	groundwater phenols, pesticides, DOC,		
groundw ater (6)	nutrients (1)		
	groundwater pH, conductivity, major ions,		
	alkalinity, hardness, chloride, sodium,		
contomination from a sil (4)	suiphate, (1)		
contamination from soil (1)			
contamination from surface	run-off flow rate (1)		terrain slope (1)
water (not suspended	stream flow rate (1)		extreme run-off
solids) (7)	stormwater oil and grease, phenois, total		events (1)
	suspended solids, pH (1)		
atmospheric deposition (3)	surface area and volume of water bodies	sediment heavy metal & PAH	
	alkalinity of water body	concentrations (1)	
	air emission potential acidifying input (1)		
	air suspended saline dust (1)		
spills and leaks (18)			
cooling water discharge (1)	industrial heat transfer (1)		
change in bathymetry (1)	change to area/volume ratio (1)		
	cattle access to shoreline (2)		extreme run-off
nutrient loading (4)	effluent phosphorous (1)		events (2)
	groundw ater nutrients (1)		
riparian vegetation disturbance (3)	quality of bank vegetation (2)		
	* Indicates actual number of EISs with stress	s factor or stress parameter	

With regard to the surface water quality factor suspended solids, for example, disturbance of upland vegetation affected surface water suspended solids concentration that in turn affected spawning bed porosity. Independent stress parameters, the environmental components that affect project stress magnitude even though they are not themselves affected by project activities, were used for 60% of surface water quality VEC factors, but not for any surface water quantity VEC factors. Independent stress parameters were used about half as frequently as stress parameters and indirect stress parameters combined.

4.5. Quality of Parameter Measurement

The use of criteria and baselines was examined for surface water quality parameters (stress and condition) identified in the impact analysis, mitigation and monitoring sections of the EISs reviewed. Only eight screening assessments and two comprehensive assessments (29% of EISs reviewed overall) indicated a commitment to measure at least one stress or condition parameter for surface water quality. Of those, five screening and one comprehensive assessment (17% of EISs reviewed) identified some sort of criteria to measure against, and three screening and one comprehensive assessment (11% of EISs reviewed) used a baseline trend in measuring a parameter. All of the assessments that used baseline trends were conducted initially under provincial authority: the Proposed Fine Tailings Management Area (EIS # 33, see Table 3.1) under the authority of the Province of Saskatchewan, the Saskatoon Regional Waste Management Upgrade (EIS # 42, see Table 3.1) harmonized with the Province of Saskatchewan and Western Economic Diversification Canada, the Proposed Joffre Expansion Project (EIS # 34, see Table 3.1) harmonized with Alberta and the Department of Fisheries and Oceans.

Baseline trends were mainly used for surface water quality stress parameters rather than condition parameters, and only the Proposed Joffre Expansion Project used a baseline in measuring a condition parameter, where upstream point sources were considered in establishing phosphorous concentration baseline trends in the Red Deer River. The Potash Corporation of Saskatchewan Proposed Fine Tailings Management Area project, concerned about contamination of surface water by saline groundwater, used a baseline of groundwater changes in salinity, from historical data collected under provincial licensing requirements.

-			_						- 1		-	-		1	-					_									n							
VEC	VEC Factor		A carico Here	Agriculute				l incar Corridore					retrochemical	Oil and Gas		Contaminated	Olico					- 0400m	Construction						Minco			Prescribed	SILING		Urban Enterprise	
														•	1			•																		
															1																					Γ
	Nutrients														ľ																					
			0	0	0							\bigcirc	0)	ľ	0		0																		
													\triangle		1																					Γ
														•	1																					
															1																					T
	Metals														1																					Γ
													0)	1	0												1		0	0	1				T
															T															Δ	\triangle			t -		T
				•	•			•	•										•	•	•	•	•	•	•					•					•	F
																																			Γ	T
	Suspended																										Γ									
	Solids																	\overline{O}			0	\bigcirc	1	$\overline{0}$		0	t									
																	\wedge		Ē			\wedge	-		$\overline{\wedge}$	t	$\overline{\wedge}$	┢								
		_																								F		┢╴								
ality	Oxygen	-																\cap	\cap															1	+	+
Sue		_											-					0	\cup														-	-	+	┢
er	Thermal												┢			-															-	-		-	-	┢
/at	Regime																									-	+	┢─								
e	i togiinto																0		-				-	-	$\overline{}$	-	+	┢								
fac		-																_		-			-	-		┢		┢								
Sur	Acidity													-	-		-																┢	-	-	┢
	Acidity	-																	\cap						\cap								┢──		-	┢
																		0	0		_				0						-	-	┢	-	—	┢
			_	-							_				-		-				<u> </u>	_					-				_	-	┢		-	┢
	Solipity			-							-																-				-	-	┢		-	┢
	Sainity	_		-							-				_						_						-					-	⊢		-	┢
				-						0	_			U	-												-		0			-	┢		-	┢
		_	-	-				_	-		\square		-	-	┢	-	-	_			_	-	_	-		_	-	-			-	-	┢	-	-	┢
	Pathogens	_													-										\sim								┢		+	┢
																									0					0	_		┢	-		┢
	0												•	2	_	_														_		_	⊢		•	┢
	Organics	_				0						_			_			_	_						~								┢			┢
		0				0			_	0	0	0	0)		0		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		0	0		0			┢	<u> </u>	0	L
													•	2																					┢	
	Toxicity																																	<u> </u>	╞	
	Í																			[L	L		L											
															L		\triangle	[⊢	L	┢	L													
	EIS number	2	с	29	4	ŝ	~	28	49*	50*	45	27	8	48*	20	42	51*	9	ω	ი	13	4	16	22	23	25	32	36	33	47	1	12	35	26	-	37
						-	S	tres	ss F	Para	me	ter													Cor	nditi	ion	Par	am	eter	ſ	*				0
						Inc	lire	ct S	tres	ss F	Para	ame	eter				Secondary Condition Parameter												\triangle							
					In	dep	ben	den	t St	res	s P	ara	me	ter					1					* Co	omp	reh	ens	sive	e A s	sse	ssr	nen	t			

 Table 4.10: Use of condition and stress parameters for surface water quality displayed by project class and assessment type

					_			75																												
VEC	VEC Factor		A cricit Huro	Agriculture				in one for the second sec	LINEAR COLIDORS			Dotrochomical	rellociterilical	Oil and Gas		Contaminated Sites						In Ctroom	Construction						Minoc			Prescribed Burns			Urban Enterprise	
ک ک	Surface																																		\Box	
antii	Water Level																-				0	0													\vdash	
ğ	Surface																							_										-	┿┥	⊢
ater	Water													\triangle																	\square					
Ň																																				
fac	Surface																																			
Sur	vvaler Flow			-			\vdash	-	^	-			^	$^{\circ}$			-														0	_	+	\vdash		
	Responsible Authority	AAFC	AAFC	AAFC	AAFC	WEDC	AAFC	NRC	NEB	AAFC	NEB	AAFC	AB		TC	SK/WD	PCA	A4FC A4FC A4FC A4FC A4FC A4FC A4FC A4FC A4FC A4FC A4FC A4FC A4FC A4FC A4FC A4FC A4FC A4FC A4FC A4FC A4FC A4FC A4FC A4FC A4FC A4FC A4FC A4FC A4FC A4FC A4FC A4FC														PCA	NRC	AAFC	DND	
	EIS number	2	З	29	4	5	7	28	49*	50*	45	27	34	48*	20	42	51*	9	8	ი	13	14	16	22	23	25	32	36	33	47	11	12	35	26	-	37
																													_	<u> </u>						
	Natural Reso	uce	es C	ana	ada	1		1.									NRO	2						Na	tion	al E	ne	rgy	Boa	ard					NE	=B
	Agriculture a	na . sf E	Agr		200	nd (nac											0						Pa	rks	Car	nad		ger		000	000	+		Р	A
	Transport Ca	nad	12	en le	5 a	nu v		an	>									,						u	St	tres		Para	me	ter	551	en				
	Province of A	Albe	erta														AB							Ind	irea	t S	tres	ss F	Para	ame	ter				_	
	Province of S	f Alberta f Saskatchew an															SK						In	dep	end	den	t St	res	s P	ara	met	ter				
	Western Eco	jaskatchew an nomic Diversification Canada															WD)	1						Cor	nditi	on	Par	ame	eter					-	\circ
	Department of	of N	atio	nal	De	fen	се										DND Secondary Condition Parameter												\triangle							
																													_							

 Table 4.11: Use of condition and stress parameters for surface water quantity displayed by project class, assessment type and responsible authority

The Saskatoon Regional Waste Management Upgrade, concerned about contamination of surface water by landfill leachate in groundwater used a baseline of groundwater monitoring data collected through a contaminated site monitoring program. The Brooks Power Project drew on the air quality monitoring database in Alberta for a baseline used to predict potential acid deposition into surface water. The Proposed Joffre Expansion Project, a petrochemical facility expansion concerned about effluent impacts on the Red Deer River, was the only assessment to use a baseline for the condition of surface water quality. The assessment used a database of surface water quality testing to establish a condition parameter baseline, and a database of effluent concentrations to establish a stress parameter baseline. Cumulative impacts to water VECs were generally not assessed using a quantitative approach with criteria and baseline trends in the South Saskatchewan River watershed.

CHAPTER 5 DISCUSSION

Results of this research confirm the observation that "practitioners use a considerable number of definitions and applications for VECs" (Hegmann et al. 1999: 12), and it is therefore very difficult to compare content across EISs. The sections that follow offer some discussion of how, by avoiding the terminology used for VECs and adopting a standard hierarchical structure, the aquatic impact analysis components (*de facto* VECs) can be identified, how such VECs have been used in EIA practice, and how they are supported by stressor-based and effects-based indicators and related measurable parameters. Implications for scaling-up VECs and indicators from project-based EIA to regional WCEA are explored, along with the implications for the development of regional WCEA, for EIA practice, and for the current trend in Canadian environmental assessment policy to streamline EIA.

5.1. Standard Aquatic Biophysical VECs

Though the term VEC is identified in the academic literature as common terminology for EIA (Beanlands & Duinker 1983, Hegmann et al. 1999), this research demonstrates that it is rarely used in practice. The VEC *concept* was applied in more than half of the EISs reviewed for the use of VEC-equivalent terms, but the terminology was confusing because it varied considerably, was inconsistent both within and across assessments, and described ecosystem components at varying levels of hierarchy and detail. In the case of the South Saskatchewan River watershed, there is no standard terminology or framework of understanding of VECs and hierarchies of VEC components and indicators within EIA that could be scaled-up from the project to the watershed.

It is feasible to identify a set of *de facto* VECs used in practice, however, by applying a standard hierarchical framework. Beanlands and Duinker (1983) suggested that it is useful to think in terms of a nested hierarchy of environmental components ranging from detailed physical/chemical constituents through individual organisms, then VECs (characterized mainly as biotic populations), to the broader levels of communities and finally whole ecosystems. In shifting the organization of the hierarchy from ecosystems to environmental elements (including biodiversity and habitat as elements), and the idea of VECs from biotic populations to a range of

biophysical components representing all environmental elements, as observed in practice and presented in this thesis, the components can be organized to better match a complementary hierarchy of stressors and therefore facilitate the exchange of quantitative information between stressor-based and effects-based assessment strategies.

The hierarchical architecture of environmental elements identified in this review differs from the ecological indicator hierarchy proposed by Dale and Beyeler (2001) who eschew VECs as a foundation for a component or ecological indicator hierarchy in favour of 'structure', 'function' and 'composition'. The elements of air, water and land used in this review would be included under 'structure' in the Dale and Beyeler model; organisms under 'function'; biodiversity under 'composition'; and habitat under all of structure, function and composition. The category of 'function' includes factors such as rate of nutrient cycling, erosion and disturbance that are identified as stressors in EIA. Dale and Beyeler have adopted a holistic hierarchy that includes stressors as part of the ecosystem, but that is problematic for the assessment of cumulative effects that must focus on the mitigation of human impacts and where a separation of anthropogenic stresses and VECs is therefore required.

A subset of aquatic VECs used in EIA can be identified by analyzing the environmental components directly affected by or affecting water due to project activities. Perhaps it should not be surprising that the set of aquatic VECs identified through such a process in the South Saskatchewan River watershed is virtually indistinguishable from a standard set of VECs identified for use in a federal government checklist used in EIA practice. This indicates two things: first, either the assessments reviewed all relied on the same checklist, or the practice of EIA has developed a fairly good understanding of what in the environment needs to be assessed; second, all environmental components at the level of VECs are directly affected by or have the potential to directly affect changes in water.

VEC factors and condition parameters, at lower and more specific levels of the component hierarchy, are used less consistently across projects, but certainly also could be organized in a standard format to allow a greater degree of consistency among assessments. Though all VECs appear to be connected to water, not all VEC factors or condition parameters are connected to

water. Water is connected to the VEC *species biodiversity*, for example, through impacts on fish, but water may not necessarily be connected to the related VEC factor *invasive species*, if the invasive species is terrestrial. At the lower levels of the component hierarchy, fewer components are connected to water. Likely only a small percentage of wildlife condition parameters would have an aquatic connection, for example, but it may be very important to wildlife that those connections are recognized when managing impacts to water. Therival and Ross (2007) highlighted the risk of losing critical local scale information in moving assessment to a broader scale. Perhaps in watershed CEA the loss of priority information could be avoided by sharing information at several levels of the component hierarchy, something recommended by Dale and Beyeler (2001: 5) in their review of the use of ecological indicators: "Indicators should be selected from multiple levels in the ecological hierarchy in order to effectively monitor the multiple levels of complexity within an ecological system." In creating a standard set of aquatic assessment components, therefore, it may be necessary to look beyond the level of VECs, to embrace greater complexity and include aquatic VEC factors and aquatic condition parameters as well.

On the other hand, through interdisciplinary review, it may be feasible to simplify the set of aquatic VECs, VEC factors and condition parameters required for assessment. The Great Sand Hills regional environmental study (SAC 2007), for example, focused the assessment of biodiversity and habitat on species guilds (communities of species with similar habitat). In that case the presence/absence of Baird's sparrow was used as a single indicator (an effects-based indicator or a condition parameter using the component hierarchy structure presented above) that represented the state or condition of four VECs associated with a particular grassland community: community biodiversity, wildlife habitat, migratory birds and migratory bird habitat. The guilds were identified through statistical correlation of species presence in similar habitats using surveys and established databases. There may be an opportunity to identify similar focal assessment parameters for the aquatic environment, but there is no evidence that such work has been undertaken within EIA in the South Saskatchewan River watershed.

While the analysis of EIA practice may help define the range of aquatic biophysical VECs applicable to a watershed, it will not establish the aquatic VEC assessment priorities. The aquatic

VECs used in impact assessments in the South Saskatchewan River watershed were often selected without regard to watershed priorities but were chosen due to various other factors, if included at all. First, aquatic VECs were most often selected to address proponent exposure to liability under the Fisheries Act and the Species at Risk Act. Second, aquatic VECs were omitted where proponents relied on regulatory alternatives, such as citing water withdrawal licensing in place of assessing impacts related to changes in surface water quantity and flow. Water quantity in the South Saskatchewan River ought to be a watershed scale priority for assessment considering that the in-stream flow requirement of the South Saskatchewan River within Alberta is estimated at 85% of naturalized flow (Clipperton et al. 2003), but the naturalized flow at the Alberta/Saskatchewan border is only 78% on average and much lower in some years mainly due to water withdrawals for irrigation (Johnson & Gerhardt 2005, cited in Halliday 2009). Licensing arrangements were used to justify the omission of surface water quantity as an aquatic VEC even though it is an issue of regional significance for aquatic life. Third, VEC selection was affected by agency mandate, so that different aquatic VECs were selected by different responsible authorities even when assessing similar projects. The DFO almost exclusively assessed impacts to water quality, fish and fish habitat while AAFC assessed impacts to water quality and species diversity but not to wetlands or water quantity. Finally, assessments with some sort of public consultation used a greater range of aquatic VECs than assessments without public consultation, suggesting the possibility that assessments conducted without public input may have been conservative in the aquatic VECs selected for assessment. The value of public participation was highlighted by Sinclair and Diduck (2005) who criticized the CEAA for not requiring public input into the scoping phase of federal screening and comprehensive assessments, where VEC selection occurs. Considering the biases, omissions and inconsistencies in aquatic VEC selection, there can be no confidence that the frequency of aquatic VECs used across assessments is an indication of the priorities for aquatic assessment in the watershed. As a corollary, neither can there be confidence that the range of aquatic VECs selected for use in individual assessments is based on watershed scale aquatic assessment priorities.

5.2. Standard WCEA Indicators

This study offers little to support the identification of a standard set of indicators suitable for conducting WCEA in the South Saskatchewan River watershed. The term 'indicator' was not

frequently used in the EISs reviewed, and although both (stressor-based) stress parameters and (effects-based) condition parameters were identified in this study, the scope of analysis was limited to impacts on surface water quality. It is likely that a review of the parameters used for all aquatic VEC factors identified in this study would be useful in establishing a standard set of assessment components and indicators for WCEA, but the priority regional VECs must be established for the watershed before indicator requirements can be fully understood (Harriman & Noble 2009). The work of identifying standard stress and condition indicators for aquatic that draws on lessons learned from related initiatives conducted outside of EIA, such as the federal environmental effects monitoring program and regional cumulative effects assessments.

Indicators explicitly labelled as indicators in the EISs reviewed were used very rarely for water VECs, and few of those were quantifiable. Only a portion of the explicit effects-based indicators were drawn from the condition parameter level of the component hierarchy and explicit stressor-based indicators included VECs, stress parameters and indirect stress parameters, but only the latter two were quantifiable. Few assessments used explicit and quantifiable indicators for water VECs and then for only a limited number of the water VEC factors. In EIA practice, impacts to water VECs and VEC factors were most often assessed without identifying indicators, and particularly without identifying quantifiable indicators.

Some types of measurable parameters, not labelled as 'indicators', were used to assess impacts to aquatic VECs in the impact analysis, mitigation and monitoring sections of EISs. Parameters used to directly measure the strength of known stressors, which may be considered, *de facto*, stressor-based indicators, and parameters used to measure condition parameters, which may be considered, *de facto*, effects-based indicators, were found in the EISs reviewed and both may be useful for WCEA for a number of reasons. First, the stress and condition parameters were identified through observed or perceived relationships between stressors and environmental components, or between two different environmental components, and relationships represent cause-effect mechanisms that are useful for science-based assessment at both the project and the watershed scales (Reid 1998, Dubé 2003). Second, both stressor-based and effects-based parameters were used, creating the opportunity to identify previously unknown relationships or

correlations between the two. Third, the independent (non-anthropogenic) stress parameters used in EIA, such as the compounding effect of terrain slope to soil erosion and surface water quality, could be useful in developing models for WCEA. Perhaps because stress and condition parameters were used in the context of relationships, no discernable biases were identified in their selection by responsible authority or assessment type. Stress and condition parameters were examined in this review for only two aquatic VECs, surface water quality and surface water quantity. It is likely that additional aquatic measurable parameters would be identified through a review of the other aquatic VECs and VEC factors, and that an examination of the stress and condition parameters used for all aquatic VECs and VEC factors may establish a useful database that would support the establishment of quantitative models as well as further identification of cause-effect mechanisms required for aquatic cumulative effect assessment for a watershed.

Effects-based indicators, in the form of condition and secondary condition parameters, were used, *de facto*, slightly more frequently than stressor-based indicators when the impact analysis, mitigation and monitoring aspects of the EISs were considered. This is somewhat unexpected because condition parameters were generally found within the monitoring commitments for mitigation and follow-up and the literature highlights a general inadequacy of monitoring within EIA (Baxter et al. 2001, Duinker & Greig 2006). This suggests that monitoring is not the only weakness in aquatic EIA; that the identification and use of stressor indicators also remains a challenge, at least for surface water quality and surface water quantity factors. The overall frequency-of-use of both condition parameters and stress parameters for surface water factors remains low (see Tables 4.10 and 4.11).

5.3. Complementary Nature of EIA and WCEA

Petersen et al. argued that it is necessary to "integrate and build upon the relative strengths of both a top-down and a bottom-upwards approach to cumulative effects management" (1987:41), and that continual input from the project level of assessment is required to inform the development of standards to serve the regional scale. That argument is supported by the findings of this research, and it presents a challenge to recent initiatives to reduce the number of screening level assessments federally, by providing for project exemptions, and to streamline EIA more generally by restricting the frequency and breadth of its application. This research supports the

notion that EIA could be made more effective through the implementation of complementary regional cumulative effect assessment initiatives such as WCEA, and that federal comprehensive and provincial assessments in particular could become both more effective and more efficient by using the information developed and shared at the regional scale.

There are a number of services that project based EIA can provide to WCEA, including the identification of VECs that may need to be understood at a regional scale. The range of aquatic VECs used in practice in the South Saskatchewan context, for example, is related to the degree of public consultation used in VEC selection, and some aquatic VECs, such as *wetlands* and *community* and *landscape biodiversity*, were only selected for consideration in EIAs where public consultation was noted to have affected VEC selection. The public may be leading EIA practice by introducing new aquatic VECs that have not otherwise been used in practice. In losing public input at the project scale, therefore, one of the mechanisms for improving assessment practice for impacts to the aquatic environment would be jeopardized.

A related mechanism provided by project based EIA is the identification of local values that may need to be protected at a regional scale, such as the preservation of species important for cultural use, like sturgeon. Lake sturgeon was identified as a VEC in only one of the EISs reviewed, the Encana Shallow Gas Infill Development project (EIS # 48, Table 3.1), whereas fish in general were identified as an assessment component in 18 of the EISs reviewed. While the habitat requirements for lake sturgeon are not fully understood (Haxton et al. 2008), evidence in the South Saskatchewan River indicate that spawning and over-wintering sites are located hundreds of kilometres apart (Smith 2003), suggesting that lake sturgeon can only be protected through a regional strategy. The regional strategy, however, must be applied at the local level to protect key sturgeon habitat that can be very localized in nature. Managing cumulative impacts such as the potential effects on sturgeon habitat within a watershed framework will require coming to terms with the issues of scale raised for CEA generally: more harm may be done by a small developments in sensitive sites than by a larger developments in a more robust sites (Wood 2007), and multiple scales of assessment are required to ensure that local priorities are not lost (Therival & Ross 2007). Project based EIA can complement WCEA by offering continual

identification of assessment components of local significance as well as the opportunity to affect development decisions at key locales at the time they are made.

Some problems in the practice of EIA could also be overcome in adopting a combination of EIA with WCEA. One is that there is currently no easy way of transferring information from one project EIA to another, something essential for predicting future cumulative impacts (required under CEAA) but difficult to achieve when other proponents or government agencies are not forthcoming (see Creasy & Ross 2005, Therival & Ross 2007, Harriman & Noble 2008). In the case of the Cheviot Mine Project, for example, difficulties in obtaining information about future plans of other industries and regional actors contributed to a three year delay in completing the EIA that ultimately led to the suspension of the project (Creasey & Ross 2005). Information about future developments could be shared between EIAs through a regional database as part of a cumulative effects framework (Dubé 2003, Harriman & Noble 2009), as could information about priority aquatic VECs, emerging priority aquatic VECs, and sensitive sites. Regarding priorities, this research identified a tendency of responsible authorities to focus only on aquatic VECs that pertain to their own mandate without considering the full range of aquatic VECs that may be impacted by the project under consideration. Fisheries and Oceans Canada, for example focused almost exclusively on water quality, fish and fish habitat for in-stream construction projects without considering impacts to riparian vegetation, migratory birds or invasive species that were considered by other responsible authorities doing similar projects. The bias in aquatic VEC selection may be seen as a failure to share information about priorities both between responsible authorities and across assessments. There is no mechanism within project-based EIA to share information between assessments within a region. The healthy river ecosystem assessment system (THREATS), currently under development in Canada, will have the capacity to support the sharing of aquatic assessment information between projects in a watershed, and could play a key role in the establishment of WCEA.

A second problem is the near absence of a quantitative, combined stressor-based and effectsbased approach in assessing water VECs. While it is argued that precision in quantifying cumulative impacts is of less importance than understanding the big picture and mechanisms underlying the effects (Reid 1998, Therival & Ross 1997, Harriman & Noble 2009), it is also

argued that a quantitative approach applied at the functional level of ecosystems (Beanlands & Duinker 1983) and in both stressor-based prediction and effects-based monitoring (Dubé 2003, Kilgour et al. 2006) can improve the science of impact assessment and our understanding of the mechanisms underlying effects. The single project that did establish a quantitative baseline trend for surface water quality, the Proposed Joffre Expansion Project (EIS # 34, Table 3.1), recognized that phosphorous concentrations in the Red Deer River already exceeded provincial guidelines before their project was considered. In this case the proponent took the initiative to launch a regional cumulative effect management collaborative as a mitigation mechanism to offset additional phosphorous loading. The 29 other projects that examined impacts to surface water quality, however, ultimately acted without a regional perspective. Some used water quality guidelines as assessment criteria, but most relied on 'expert' judgement to determine whether impacts were or were not likely to be significant. Unfortunately, the use of 'expert judgment' for assessing potential impacts identified in project-based EIA can easily overlook subtle but cumulatively significant effects when the underlying mechanisms are not understood (Therival & Ross 1997). For practical reasons expert judgment may nonetheless be a preferred option in assessing some stressors with cumulative significance for small projects, such as increased suspended sediment concentrations from ground disturbance causing soil erosion, where standard precautionary mitigation measures may be more appropriate than a quantitative monitoring process. For factors such as phosphorous loading, however, regional data management, trend analysis, target thresholds, effects-based modeling, and stress predictions, all quantitative in nature, could provide the information necessary to effectively manage cumulative impacts at the project level (Dubé 2003, Harriman & Noble 2008). In keeping with the expectations of the literature (Duinker & Grieg 2006), only 1 of 35 assessments reviewed in the South Saskatchewan River watershed attempted to take this approach for a surface water quality factor.

A combination of EIA and WCEA would provide a mechanism for information about sensitive sites to move from the local to the regional scale, and information about priorities to move from the regional to the local decision-making scale. Assessments at both scales are necessary to ensure that CEA is responsive to local conditions, effective in establishing assessment priorities, and effective in influencing development (Therival & Ross 2007, Harriman & Noble 2009). Unfortunately, the requirement to conduct EIAs is being eroded at the federal and provincial

levels in Canada. The Budget Implementation Act (Canada 2009) included a reform package for CEAA that exempted a number of infrastructure projects receiving federal funding from the requirement to conduct federal environmental assessments (see Noble et al. 2011) and amendments to the Navigable Waters Protection Act (Canada 1985) eliminated the requirement for environmental assessments for 'minor works' (Transport Canada 2010). Similarly the province of Saskatchewan is currently developing a code-of-practice approach to environmental regulation that will effectively bypass the EIA screening process for many small and medium size projects (Saskatchewan 2010). The adoption of codes of practice in place of EIA may significantly reduce the burden of assessment costs and delays that are seen as obstacles to economic development, but the alternative of establishing a regional assessment framework such as WCEA, where a regional database, such as THREATS (2011) may be used to provide baseline information, establish regional assessment priorities, archive knowledge of other developments, and continually improve assessment science (Dubé 2003), would arguably also reduce the proponent burden while at the same time better serve the environment through improved management of aquatic cumulative effects. A combination of WCEA and project-based EIA would provide assessment efficiency, better understanding of cumulative effects at a watershed scale, VEC and indicator priorities identified regionally, and an analytical assessment and decision-making process for individual projects. The burden of conducting cumulative effects assessments within individual project assessments could be significantly reduced through the establishment of WCEA, but the role of project-based EIA, where the particular impacts of individual projects can be identified, understood, and deferred if necessary, should not be eliminated.

5.4. Establishing Priority VECs and Priority Parameters

The above section highlights the importance of being able to transfer knowledge produced at the local scale through project based EIA up to the regional scale where priority VECs can be established, and then back down again to other assessments at the local scale. It is important to consider that while the VECs and condition parameters identified in project based EIA can be applied at any scale, priority regional VECs will not necessarily be the same as project scale VECs (Hegmann et al. 1999) because they must also account for stresses that occur at the landscape level outside of EIA (Dubé 2003); they must account for social and economic factors

in addition to aquatic ecosystem factors (Noble 2008); and they must be oriented to regional planning needs (Harriman & Noble 2008). Regional priorities will also need to be established for VEC factors and condition and stress parameters as well as for VECs. Where quantitative regional models are established for effects-based assessment, the stress and condition parameters that are essential to the models will become regional priorities for inclusion in project EIA.

Harriman and Noble (2009: 285) observed that regional cumulative effects assessment can take many forms and must be "fit for purpose" to be effective. As the emerging practice and science of WCEA unfolds, the competing purposes that complicate VEC and indicator selection may become clearer. It is apparent that WCEA must come to terms with issues of scale to interpret and communicate both local and regional information, identify reference conditions and baseline trends, provide information to establish loading limits and thresholds for acceptable levels of change, and identify priority stressors and sensitive sites to serve EIA (see Noble 2010). It might also be anticipated that WCEA should help develop an understanding of the broad geomorphological and ecological functions of the river system, and help develop quantitative modeling tools that can enhance our ability to predict impacts to the aquatic environment (see Reid 1993, Seitz 2011). It seems likely that many of these purposes could share a core set of VECs and indicators broadly applicable within a watershed and responsive to different scales of assessment.

5.5 Information Management Deficiency in EIA

One of the shortcomings of EIA practice, from a cumulative effects perspective, is the "shifting baseline syndrome" where successive assessments look only as far back as the most recent study to establish a reference or baseline condition and, as a result, longer-term and underlying trends are often overlooked (see Pauly 1995:430). Baselines must identify changing conditions over space and time so as to avoid the serial degradation of the environment through cumulative impacts (see Dubé 2003, Noble 2006). We have the science to capture baseline trends, but data availability is an issue (Kilgour et al. 2006, Seitz 2011). Temporally and spatially explicit data, such as the baseline studies frequently conducted historically within EIA, is required to establish baseline trends that in turn can be used to establish thresholds for VECs (see Dubé 2003, Kilgour et al. 2006, Seitz 2011). Recognizing which VECs are approaching thresholds is necessary for

selecting priority VECs for CEA and WCEA. Unfortunately this research demonstrates that, with one or two exceptions, such data is generally not available. Even with the investment of countless hours of active solicitation over a three month period, combined with the additional support of government agency personnel, 25% of the EISs targeted for this review (all federal screening assessments) could not be located or accessed. CEAA does not keep an archive of completed EISs and proponents are difficult to identify and frequently not forthcoming. Among the EISs that were reviewed, many referred to technical studies and to data that were not included in the actual report. This research supports the observation by made by Dubé (2003) that it is necessary to provide better management of the spatially and temporally explicit data and analysis that is produced within a watershed, including within EIA. EIA data can contribute to the establishment of reference conditions and baseline trends and variability, and use that information to help establish loading limits and thresholds to guide future development and land use decisions (see also Noble 2010), and to help identify priority VECs for CEA.

The province of Saskatchewan, Canada is currently developing a regional airshed framework for long-term monitoring of air quality and atmospheric depositions where independent management boards for each airshed will oversee and coordinate monitoring with adjacent provinces (McCullum 2011 pers. com). It could be argued that a parallel structure for watersheds would provide a sound basis for producing and managing the data required for WCEA (and to support aquatic CEA within EIA), and could utilize related monitoring data from government agencies and industry as well as the aquatic baseline data produced within project based EIA, if it were available. There is a serious deficiency in information management within EIA that needs to be overcome to help prevent baseline shift, support effective CEA, and identify priority CEA VECs. The NEB, with on-line postings of EISs, complete with background studies and related documentation, has demonstrated how the information management deficiency within EIA could be easily overcome.

CHAPTER 6 CONCLUSION

This thesis set out to determine whether the VECs and indicators used for the aquatic environment in the practice of project-based EIA can be scaled up for use in regional, watershedbased aquatic cumulative effects assessment. Watershed cumulative effect assessment aims to combine stressor-based and effects-based assessment practices used in EIA and regional assessments conducted outside of EIA, respectively, to improve the modelling and strengthen the science available for effective CEA, and to develop a regional database and resource that can support a range of environmental management and planning processes in a watershed in an ongoing capacity. One of the challenges in developing a framework for WCEA is to establish a set of assessment components and indicators that reflect the assessment needs of the watershed at both the project and regional scales. This research examined the quality and use of aquatic VECs and indicators in EIA practice and determined that they are not suitable for direct application at the watershed scale. The implications of that finding are addressed here.

The environmental components identified as VECs in EIA practice are too few and too inconsistent to be useful in comparing content from EISs across a watershed, although a standard set of aquatic biophysical VECs, VEC factors and condition parameters could be developed from EIS content analysis by employing a standard hierarchical framework. Such a set of aquatic assessment components could be used to standardize terminology and facilitate information exchange between assessments and assessment scales, but would be of limited use in establishing priority assessment foci for WCEA. Priorities for regional aquatic assessment cannot be identified by scaling up the VECs and indicators used in project based EIA because the selection and frequency of VEC use is affected by regulatory biases, responsible authority mandates and preferences, omissions and inconsistencies, and because indicators are used infrequently and generally not oriented to a quantitative approach. The aquatic VECs and indicators that are priorities for assessment across the South Saskatchewan River watershed will therefore need to be determined through a regional assessment that accounts for mesoscale and local scale sensitivities (see Noble 2010, Seitz 2011).

The biases and omissions influencing aquatic VEC selection for individual projects indicate that guidance is required for project based EIA if it is to deal effectively with cumulative effects at the project level or contribute to regional cumulative effect assessment. The selection of VECs and indicators for EIA must be influenced by priorities established through a regional assessment and it will therefore be necessary to apply aquatic cumulative assessment tools at the regional or watershed scale. The range of aquatic VECs identified in this review indicates that an interdisciplinary approach to science will be essential, but at the same time WCEA must be influenced by the public consultation that is part of EIA if it is to respond to emerging aquatic VECs that are not yet commonly used in EIA practice and to benefit from local knowledge and local scrutiny. Both WCEA and EIA are required to ensure that regional and local aquatic assessment priorities are properly identified and taken into consideration when development decisions are made, and a mechanism is required to ensure the aquatic assessment priorities identified in WCEA subsequently influence the terms of reference for project based environmental impact assessment.

Valued socioeconomic components (VSCs) were not examined in this review, even though they are linked to many biophysical components that are ultimately part of impact assessment. The VSCs included economic, aesthetic, human health, and cultural factors such as First Nation culturally significant sites and traditional-use resources that may also be interpreted as biophysical VECs. A recent ruling by the Supreme Court of Canada, in Mikisew Cree First Nation v. Canada, recognized the requirement for First Nation consultation on developments affecting traditional-use areas. We can therefore expect that traditional ecological knowledge (TEK) is becoming a necessary contribution rather than an optional extra to inform the EIA and CEA processes, for the identification of sensitive sites and important ecological relationships and for the selection of biophysical VECs and indicators. None of the 35 EISs reviewed in the South Saskatchewan River watershed utilized TEK, and there appears to be a deficit of understanding with respect to how such work can be incorporated into EIA and CEA.

Aquatic cumulative effects, such as inadequate instream flow related to excessive water withdrawals, identified as an issue in the South Saskatchewan River basin, are often a consequence of incremental impacts and it is therefore necessary to assess the impacts of even small changes to aquatic VECs such as surface water quantity and flow. That can only be accomplished through broad application of CEA, through project-based EIA, to proposed projects with the potential to affect priority regional and locally significant aquatic VECs. If a VEC is omitted from assessment due to licensing arrangements or the application of a code of practice, the cumulative impact to the VEC, and indirect cumulative impacts to related VECs, will not be accounted for. On the South Saskatchewan River, EIAs for irrigation expansion and consumptive use of water for industrial processes failed to consider direct impacts to surface water quantity and stream flow or indirect impacts to sturgeon habitat or the downstream Saskatchewan River Delta resulting from reduced flow.

The selection of VECs for aquatic CEA requires the development of thresholds for priority stressors identified through application of a regional assessment supported by long-term monitoring and the sharing of existing data produced within the region. Aquatic CEA therefore will not be effective in Canada until we institutionalize regional approaches such as WCEA. It will also be necessary to update CEA guidelines for EIA practice to ensure that regional priorities and sensitivities are accounted for in individual development projects; that information such as baselines and monitoring data are made easily available to support other assessments and VEC identification; that TEK is incorporated; and that licensing and codes of practice do not limit the scope of assessment so that cumulative impacts to priority VECs are overlooked.

6.1. Limitations

In accordance with the state of practice in the South Saskatchewan River watershed, and the likeliest source of unidentified cumulative impacts, the EISs selected for review were mainly drawn from (federal) screening assessments. As a consequence, the sample size of both comprehensive type assessments, and provincial or harmonized federal/provincial assessments was quite limited. Observations of differences between assessment types and governing authorities are therefore of limited power from an analytical perspective and should be taken more as indications than as proofs of differences. The same caveat applies to observations regarding some responsible authorities; although DFO and AAFC were well represented in the study, DND, TC and WD were less so. Sample size limitations may have affected some particular

observations, but the overall trends such as selection bias by responsible authorities would be difficult to refute on that basis.

The organization of environmental components was not an interdisciplinary exercise, but rather an inductive exercise by a sole researcher, and therefore may be somewhat limited in its capacity to represent essential ecosystem components. A number of assumptions underlie the component organization and identification, such as categorizing species at risk and invasive species as species-level biodiversity issues or components, and assuming that when the introduction of deleterious substances to fish bearing waters from ground disturbance was identified as an assessment issue, that suspended solids concentrations in surface water was implicated as a VEC factor. The environmental element hierarchy presented should be taken as an example of a VEC hierarchy oriented to aquatic assessment, and not be considered definitive.

6.2. Recommendations for Further Research

While cumulative effects are the consequence of a myriad of small changes in the environment, cumulative effects assessment must be focused on changes to the environment that are judged significant, such as when VECs are beginning to approach some kind of threshold. Ecosystems are far too complex for us to model everything that may occur, and resources need to be directed to those environmental changes that we know or suspect are significant. VECs therefore need to be carefully scoped in support of CEA (see Noble 2010). That scoping depends on analysis of long-term data, and must consider regional, mesoscale, and local issues (see Seitz et al. 2011). Scoping must focus on biophysical VECs but must also account for value placed on different biophysical VECs in a socioeconomic context. It is necessary to understand how First Nation cultures, for example, interpret acceptable limits of environmental change, and what biophysical components and thresholds can be used to assess such change. Research that will support the establishment of VECs for WCEA needs to move forward on several fronts. We need to develop data management systems that can make existing and future temporally and spatially explicit baseline and monitoring data readily available for review and analysis. We need to develop long term monitoring regimes for river systems that can support CEA requirements within the watershed, including the identification of priority VECs at different scales. We need to understand how best to amend out-dated guidelines for conducting CEA and for incorporating

CEA into EIA. We need to examine how to ensure that cumulative impacts obscured by licensing and codes-of-practice are accounted for. We need to understand the implications of a bi-cultural approach to resource management, and how that may affect VEC and indicator selection. We need to understand how to incorporate WCEA itself into our policy and institutional structures.
REFERENCES

- Alberta Environment. (Undated). Cumulative Effects assessment in environmental impact assessment reports required under the Alberta Environmental Protection and Enhancement Act. URL: <u>http://www3.gov.ab.ca/env/protenf/documents/cea.pdf</u>
- Alberta Environment. Alberta Environment List of Completed EIAs. URL: http://environment.alberta.ca/1274.html
- Alberta Environment, (2010). Alberta's Environmental Assessment Process Updated February 2010. EA Guide 2008-1. Edmonton, AB: Alberta Environment, Environmental Assessment Program. URL: <u>http://environment.gov.ab.ca/info/library/6964.pdf</u>

Antoniuk, T. (2008). ESRF Valued Component Objectives Project. Unpublished.

- Atkinson, S. F., Bhatia, S., Schoolmaster, F. A. (2000). Treatment of biodiversity impacts in a sample of US environmental impact statements. *Impact Assessment and Project Appraisal*, 18(4), 271-282.
- Baxter, W., Ross, W., Spaling, H. (2001). Improving the practice of cumulative effects assessment in Canada. *Impact Assessment and Project Appraisal*, 19(4), 253-262.
- Beanlands, G. & Duinker, P. (1983). An ecological framework for environmental impact assessment. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 18, 267-277.
- Bérubé, M. (2007). Cumulative effects assessments at Hydro-Quebec: what have we learned? *Impact Assessment and Project Appraisal, 25*(2), 101-109.
- Boulden, B., Findlay, R., Ogilvie, K., Schwartz, S. (2000). Regional Environmental Effects Frameworks. Report prepared for the Canadian Environmental Assessment Agency Research and Development Program, Hull, QC: CEAA, 2000.
- Braat, T. (2001). Regional Cumulative Effects Management Framework for Cold Lake, Alberta. Report prepared for the Canadian Environmental Assessment Agency Research and Development Program, Hull, QC: CEAA, 2001.
- Burris, R. K., & Canter, L. W. (1997). Cumulative impacts are not properly addressed in environmental assessments. *Environmental Impact Assessment Review*, *17*, 5-18.
- Bowden, M. A., & Weichel, B. (2005). In K. Hanna, (Ed.). Environmental Impact Assessment in Saskatchewan. *Environmental Impact Assessment: Practice and Participation* (281-292).
 Don Mills, ON: Oxford University Press.

- Canada (1985). *Fisheries Act*. URL: <u>http://www.canlii.org/en/ca/laws/stat/rsc-1985-c-f-</u> 14/latest/rsc-1985-c-f-14.html
- Canada (1985). *Navigable Waters Protection Act*. URL: <u>http://www.canlii.org/en/ca/laws/stat/rsc-1985-c-n-22/latest/rsc-1985-c-n-22.html</u>
- Canada (1992). Canadian Environmental Assessment Act. URL: http://www.canlii.org/en/ca/laws/stat/sc-1992-c-37/latest/sc-1992-c-37.html
- Canada (2002). Species at Risk Act. URL: <u>http://www.canlii.org/en/ca/laws/stat/sc-2002-c-</u> 29/latest/sc-2002-c-29.html
- Canada (2009). *Budget Implementation Act*. URL: <u>http://www.canlii.org/en/ca/laws/stat/sc-2009-</u> c-2/latest/sc-2009-c-2.html
- Canadian Environmental Assessment Agency. (2005). Orientation to the Canadian Environmental Assessment Act. CEAA, 2005.
- Canadian Environmental Assessment Registry (CEAR). URL: <u>http://www.ceaa-acee.gc.ca/050/index_e.cfm</u>
- Churchill River Study Board (CRSB). (1975). *Churchill River Study (Missinipe Probe)*. Saskatoon, SK.
- Clipperton, G. K., Koning, C. W., Locke, A. G. H., Mahoney, J. M. & Quazi, B. (2003). Instream flow needs determinations for the South Saskatchewan River Basin, Alberta, Canada. Online edition. URL: <u>http://ssrb.environment.alberta.ca/pubs/IFN_Main_Report.pdf</u>.
- Contant, C. K., & Wiggins, L. L. (1991). Defining and analyzing cumulative environmental impacts. *Environmental Impact Assessment Review*, *11*, 297-309.
- Creasey, R., & Hanna, K. (2005). In K. Hanna, (Ed.) Alberta's Impact Assessment System. Environmental Impact Assessment: Practice and Participation (268-280). Don Mills, ON: Oxford University Press.
- Creasey, R., & Ross, W. A. (2005). In K. Hanna, (Ed.) The Cheviot mine project: Cumulative effects assessment lessons for professional practice. *Environmental Impact Assessment: Practice and Participation* (145-159). Don Mills, ON: Oxford University Press.
- Culp, J., Cash, K. & Wrona, F. (2000). Cumulative effects assessment for the Northern River Basins Study. *Journal of Aquatic Ecosystem Stress and Recovery*, *8*, 87-94.
- Dale, V. H. & Beyeler, S. C. (2001). Challenges in the development and use of ecological indicators. *Ecological Indicators*, 1, 3-10.

- Dubé, M. (2003). Cumulative effect assessment in Canada: a regional framework for aquatic ecosystems. *Environmental Impact Assessment Review*, 23, 723-745.
- Dubé, M., Johnson, B., Dunn, G., Culp, J., Cash, K., Munkittrick, K., ... Storey, A. (2006).
 Development of a new approach to cumulative effects assessment: A northern river ecosystem example. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, *113*, 87-115. DOI: 10.1007/s10661-005-9098-0
- Dubé, M. (2007). CWN Proposal Summary: Development of The Healthy River Ecosystem Assessment System (THREATS) for assessing and adaptively managing the cumulative effects of man-made developments on Canadian freshwaters. Unpublished.
- Duinker, P. & Greig, L. (2006). The Impotence of cumulative effects assessment in Canada: Ailments and ideas for redeployment. *Environmental Management*, *37*(2), 153-161.
- Gibson, R. B. & Hanna, K. S. (2005). Progress and uncertainty: The evolution of federal environmental assessment in Canada. *Environmental Impact Assessment: Practice and Participation*. Don Mills ON: Oxford University Press.
- Government of Saskatchewan, (2009). The Saskatchewan EA process. URL: http://www.environment.gov.sk.ca/Default.aspx?DN=e5e298dc-5b59-452f-b465-fe0fb0547023
- Grzybowski & Associates. (2001). Regional environmental effects assessment and strategic landuse planning in British Columbia. Report prepared for the Canadian Environmental Assessment Agency Research and Development Program. Hull, QC: CEAA, 2001.
- Halliday, R. (2009). From the mountains to the sea: The state of the Saskatchewan River Basin.Saskatoon, SK: Partners FOR the Saskatchewan River Basin.
- Hanna, K. S., (Ed.) (2005). Environmental Impact Assessment: Practice and Participation. Don Mills ON: Oxford University Press.
- Harriman, J. A. E., & Noble, B. (2008). Characterizing project and strategic approaches to regional cumulative effects assessment in Canada. *Journal of Environmental Assessment Policy and Management*, 10(1),1-26.
- Harriman Gunn, J. & Noble B. F. (2009). Integrating cumulative effects in regional strategic environmental assessment frameworks: Lessons from practice. *Journal of Environmental Assessment Policy and Management*, 11(3), 267-290.
- Haxton, T. J., Findlay, C. S. Threader, R. W. (2008). Predictive value of a lake sturgeon habitat suitability model. *Journal of Fisheries Management*, 28(5), 1373-1383.

- Hegmann, G., Cocklin, C., Creasey, R., Dupuis, S., Kennedy, A., Kingsley, L., ... Stalker, D. (1999). *Cumulative effects assessment practitioners guide*. Hull, QC: Canadian Environmental Assessment Agency, Canada.
- Johnson, C. & Boyce, M., (2001). A Quantitative Approach for Regional Environmental Assessment: Application of a Habitat-Based Population Viability Analysis to Wildlife of the Canadian Central Arctic. Report prepared for the Canadian Environmental Assessment Agency Research and Development Program, Hull, QC: CEAA, 2001.
- Johnson, D. & Gerhart, J. (2005). Source water protection and management in the South Saskatchewan River Basin in Saskatchewan. *Proceedings, Canadian Water Resources* Association National Conference, Banff AB.
- Kilgour, B.W., Dubé, M. G., Hedley, K., Portt C.B., & Munkittrick, K. R. (2006). Aquatic Environmental Effects Monitoring Guidance for Environmental Assessment Practitioners. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 130, 423-436.DOI:10.1007/s10661-006-9433-0
- Martz, L., Bruneau, J. and Rolfe, J. T., editors. (April 2007). Climate Change and Water: SSRB Final Technical Report. URL: http://adaptation.nrcan.gc.ca/projdb/pdf/107a.pdf
- Noble, B. (2008). Strategic approaches to regional cumulative effects assessment: a case study of the Great Sand Hills, Canada. *Impact Assessment and Project Appraisal*, 26(2), 78-90. DOI: 10.3152/146155108X316405
- Noble,B. (2010). Cumulative environmental effects and the tyranny of small decisions: Towards meaningful cumulative effects assessment and management. *Natural Resources and Environmental Studies Institute occasional paper No.* 8, University of Northern British Columbia, Prince George, B.C., Canada.
- Noble, B., Hill, M., Nielsen J. (2011). Environmental assessment framework for identifying and mitigating the effects of linear developments to wetlands. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 99, 133-140.
- Noble, B. F. (2006). Introduction to Environmental Impact Assessment. Don Mills, ON: Oxford University Press.
- Noble, B. F. (2003). Regional cumulative effects assessment: Toward a strategic framework. In CEAA *Research and Development Monograph Series*, 2003. ISBN 0-662-39666-9. URL: <u>http://www.ceaa.gc.ca/default.asp?lang=En&n=570DC764-1&offset=2&toc=show</u>

- North Saskatchewan Watershed Alliance (NSWA) (2011). *Discussion paper for the development* of an integrated watershed management plan for the North Saskatchewan River Watershed in Alberta. The North Saskatchewan Watershed Alliance Society. Edmonton, AB.
- O'Riordon, J., Sadler, B., Beanlands, G. (1988). The assessment of cumulative effects: A research prospectus. Ottawa, ON: Canadian Environmental Assessment Research Council. URL: http://www.acee.gc.ca/Content/7/E/8/7E8AD118-74F2-4CC3-ADAD-5566CA99EF3B/RP1_88E.pdf
- Pauly, D. (1995). Anecdotes and the shifting baseline syndrome of fisheries. Trends in Ecology and Evolution, 10(10), 430.
- Peterson, E. B., Chan, Y. H., Peterson, N.B., Constable, G.A., Caton, R. B., Davis, C. S., ... Yarronton, Y. A. (1987). Cumulative Effects Assessment in Canada: An Agenda for Action and Research. Hull, QC: Canadian Environmental Assessment Research Council.
- Rees, W. (1995). Cumulative environmental assessment and global change. *Environmental Impact Assessment Review*, 15, 295-309.
- Reid, L. M. (1993). Research and cumulative watershed effects. Gen. Tech. Rep. PSW-GTR-141. Albany, CA: Pacific Southwest Research Station, Forest Service, U.S. Department of Agriculture.
- Reid, L. M. (1998). Cumulative watershed effects and watershed analysis. In Naiman, R. & Bilby, R., (Eds.) *River Ecology and management: Lessons from the Pacific Coastal Ecoregion* (476-501). New York, NY: Springer-Verlag.
- Sadler, B. (1996). Environmental assessment in a changing world: Evaluating practice to improve performance. *International study of the effectiveness of environmental assessment Final Report*. Canadian Environmental Assessment Agency. ISBN : o-662-24702-7 Cat. No.: EN106-37/1996E.
- Saskatchewan (2010). Saskatchewan Environmental Code. URL: <u>http://www.environment.gov.sk.ca/Default.aspx?DN=02fe0486-85da-472d-9bc5-</u> <u>ed8f8bb7d24c</u>
- Saskatchewan Environmental Assessment Mapping Application. URL: <u>http://www.environment.gov.sk.ca/Default.aspx?DN=41b56f8e-b563-4457-91ae-02a984317ee6</u>.
- Saskatchewan Watershed Authority (SWA) (2006). *State of the Watershed Reporting Framework*. Saskatchewan Watershed Authority. Saskatoon, SK.

- Saskatchewan Watershed Authority (SWA) (2008). North Saskatchewan River Watershed Source Water Protection Plan. Saskatchewan Watershed Authority. Saskatoon, SK.
- Schindler, D. W. (2001). The cumulative effects of climate warming and other human stresses on Canadian freshwaters in the new millenium. *Canadian Journal of Fish and Aquatic Science*, 58, 18-29. DOI: 10.1139/cjfas-58-1-18.
- Schindler, D. W. & Donahue, W. F. (2006). An impending water crisis in Canada's western prairie provinces. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 103(19), 7210-7216. DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0601568103
- Scientific Advisory Committee (SAC) (2007). Great Sand Hills regional environmental study: final report. Government of Saskatchewan, 2007-104. URL: http://www.environment.gov.sk.ca/2007-104GreatSandHillsEnvironmentalStudy
- Seitz, N. (2011). Advancing cumulative effects assessment methodology for river systems. Thesis manuscript, University of Saskatchewan library, Saskatoon, SK.
- Seitz, N., Westbrook, C., Noble, B. F. (2011). Bringing science into river systems cumulative effects assessment practice. *Environmental Impact Assessment Review*, 31, 172-179, doi:10.1016/j.eiar.2010.08.001
- Sheelanere, P. (2010). Institutional requirements for watershed cumulative effects assessment in the South Saskatchewan watershed. Thesis manuscript, University of Saskatchewan library, Saskatoon, SK. URL: <u>http://library2.usask.ca/theses/available/etd-06292010-</u>090323/unrestricted/SHEELANERE_P_THESIS.pdf
- Sinclair, A. J. & Diduck, A. (2005). Public participation in Canadian environmental assessment: Enduring challenges and future directions. *Environmental Impact Assessment: Practice and Participation*. Don Mills ON: Oxford University Press.
- Smit, B. & Spaling, H. (1995). Methods for cumulative effects assessment. Environmental Impact Assessment Review, 15, 81-106.
- Smith, C. G. (2003). Historical and present locations of lake sturgeon in Saskatchewan. *Fish and Wildlife Technical Report 2003 2*. Saskatoon, SK: Saskatchewan Environment Fish and Wildlife Branch.
- Sonntag, N. C., Everitt, R., Rattie, L., Colnett, D., Wolf, C., Truett, J., ... Holling, C. (1987). Hull, QC: Canadian Environmental Assessment Research Council.

- Spaling, H. & Smit, B. (1993). Cumulative environmental change: Conceptual frameworks, evaluation approaches, and institutional perspectives. *Environmental Management*, 17 (5), 587-600.
- Spaling, H., Zwier, J., Ross, W., Creasey, R. (2000). Managing cumulative effects of oil sands development in Alberta, Canada. *Journal of Environmental Assessment Policy and Management*, 2(4), 501-528. DOI: 10.1142/S1464333200000461.
- Squires, A. J., Westbrook, C. J., Dubé, M. G. (2010). An approach for assessing cumulative effects in a model river, the Athabasca River Basin. *Integrated Environmental Assessment* and Management, 6(1), 119-134.
- St. Jaques, J., Sauchyn, D. J., Zhao, Y., (2010) Northern Rocky Mountain streamflow records: Global warming trends, human impacts or natural variability? *Geophysical Research Letters*, 37, L06407, DOI: 10.1029/2009GL042045, 2010.

THREATS Canada (2011). URL: http://www.threatscanada.ca/

- Therivel, R. & Ross, B. (2007). Cumulative effects assessment: Does scale matter? *Environmental Impact Assessment Review*, 27: 365-385.
- Transport Canada (2010). Minor Works and Waters Order (Navigable Waters Protection Act). URL: <u>http://www.tc.gc.ca/eng/marinesafety/oep-nwpp-minorworks-menu-1743.htm</u>
- US CEQ. (1978). Council on Environmental Quality: Final Regulations. Executive office of the president. <u>http://gc.energy.gov/NEPA/nepa_documents/TOOLS/GUIDANCE/Volume1/3-1978ceqregpreamble.pdf</u>
- Waterwolf (2008). Waterwolf growth management plan. URL: <u>http://www.waterwolf.org/PDFs/ww%20growth%20management%20plan%20June12_08.p</u> df
- Wood, G. (2007). Thresholds and criteria for evaluating and communicating impact significance in environmental statements: 'See no evil, hear no evil, speak no evil'? *Environmental Impact Assessment Review*, 28(2008): 22-38